Sandra Whitehead
Mayor

Amanda Forrister
Mayor Pro-Tem

Frances Luna
Commissioner

Paul Baca
WY o, Commissioner

7N /TN /1T

Randall Aragon
Commissioner

Bruce Swingle
City Manager

505 Sims St.
Truth or Consequences, New Mexico 87901
P: 575-894-6673 ¢ F: 575-894-7767
www.torcnm.org

REGULAR MEETING

THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF TRUTH
CONSEQUENCES, NEW MEXICO, TO BE HELD IN THE COMMISSION CHAMBERS, 405 W. 3RD
ST., ON WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 8, 2021; TO START AT 9:00 A.M.

A. CALL TO ORDER

B. INTRODUCTION
1. ROLL CALL

Hon. Sandra Whitehead, Mayor

Hon. Amanda Forrister, Mayor Pro-Tem
Hon. Paul Baca, Commissioner

Hon. Randall Aragon, Commissioner
Hon. Frances Luna, Commissioner

2. SILENT MEDITATION
3. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
4. APPROVAL OF AGENDA

C. PUBLIC COMMENT (3 Minute Rule Applies)

D. CONSENT CALENDAR

1. City Commission Regular Minutes, August 25, 2021

E. PUBLIC HEARINGS

OR

1. Public Hearing/Discussion/Action: Final Adoption of Ordinance No. 719 relating
to Administration adopting a Personnel Policy setting forth Personnel Rules and
Regulations, and establishing consistent basic policies, practices,
professionalism, and expectations concerning relations between the City of
Truth or Consequences and its employees. City Manager Swingle



F. ORDINANCES/RESOLUTIONS/ZONING

1. Discussion/Action: Resolution No. 20 21/22 Declaring Surplus Property for an
online Auction through J.J. Kane Associates, Inc. dba J.J. Kane Auctioneers to be
held on October 5, 2021. Angela A. Torres, City Clerk

2. Discussion/Action: Resolution No. 21 21/22 Budget Adjustment Resolution.
Carol Kirkpatrick, Finance Director

3. Discussion/Action: Resolution No. 22 21/22 Authorizing and Approving
Submission of a Completed Application for Financial Assistance and Project
Approval to the New Mexico Finance Authority (NMFA). City Manager Swingle

G. NEW BUSINESS

1. Discussion/Action: Ariel Dougherty Public Appeal in regards to Resolution No.
05 21/22 imposing a $50 monthly trip fee to customers desiring to retain their
digital meters. Ariel Dougherty, Appellant

2. Discussion/Action: Ron Fenn Public Appeal in regards to Resolution No. 05
21/22 imposing a $50 monthly trip fee to customers desiring to retain their
digital meters. Ron Fenn, Appellant

3. Discussion/Action: Approval of NM Workforce Connection Building Lease. City
Manager Swingle

4. Discussion/Action: Agreement to Provide GIS Addressing Services between the
County of Sierra and the City of Truth or Consequences. City Manager Swingle

5. Discussion/Action: Review and approval of the 2021 Holiday Schedule for the
employees of the City of Truth or Consequences. City Manager Swingle

H. REPORTS
1. City Manager
2. City Attorney
3. City Commission

I. EXECUTIVE SESSION
1. Threatened & Pending Litigation (Clover Leaf Water Rights Case) pursuant to 10-
15-1(H.7).

J. ACTION ON ITEMS DISCUSSED DURING EXECUTIVE SESSION, if any.

K. ADJOURNMENT

The meeting will be broadcast live through KCHS on 101.9 FM.

If you do not wish to attend the meeting, but would like to give public input, please
submit your comments to torcpubliccomment@torcnm.org, by fax at (575) 894-6690,
or a hard copy can be dropped off at the City Clerk’s Office, 505 Sims Street, Truth or
Consequences, NM. Please submit your comments no later than Monday, September 6,
2021

NEXT REGULAR CITY COMMISSION MEETING SEPTEMBER 22, 2021


mailto:torcpubliccomment@torcnm.org

CITY OF TRUTH OR CONSEQUENCES

AGENDA REQUEST FORM

Agenda Item #: D. 1

MEETING DATE: September 8, 2021

SUBJECT: City Commission Regular Minutes, August 25, 2021
DEPARTMENT: City Clerk's Office

DATE SUBMITTED: September 2, 2021

SUBMITTED BY: Angela A. Torres, Clerk-Treasurer

WHO WILL PRESENT THE ITEM: City Clerk Torres

Summary/Background:

Minutes approval.

Recommendation:

Approve the minutes.

Attachments:

e CC Minutes

Fiscal Impact (Finance): N/A

$0.00

Legal Review (City Attorney): N/A

None.

Approved For Submittal By: [ ] Department Director
Reviewed by: City Clerk 0O Finance [ legal [ Other: Click here to enter text.
Final Approval: X City Manager

- — e

CITY CLERK’S USE ONLY - COMMISSION ACTION TAKEN

Resolution No. -  Ordinance No. -
Continued To: - Referred To: -

(] Approved [] Denied Uother: -
File Name: CC Agendas 9-8-2021




CITY COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES
CITY OF TRUTH OR CONSEQUENCES, NEW MEXICO
CITY COMMISSION CHAMBERS, 405 W. 3RC st,
WEDNESDAY, AUGUST 25, 2021

A. CALL TO ORDER:

The meeting was called to order by Mayor Sandra Whitehead at 9:00 a.m., who
presided and Angela A. Torres, City Clerk-Treasurer, acted as Secretary of the meeting.

B. INTRODUCTION:
1. ROLL CALL:

Upon calling the roll, the following Commissioners were reported present.
Hon. Sandra Whitehead, Mayor
Hon. Amanda Forrister, Mayor Pro-Tem
Hon. Paul Baca, Commissioner
Hon. Randall Aragon, Commissioner
Hon. Frances Luna, Commissioner - absent

Also Present: Bruce Swingle, City Manager
Angela A. Torres, City Clerk-Treasurer

There being a quorum present, the Commission proceeded with the business at hand.
2. SILENT MEDITATION:

Mayor Whitehead called for fifteen seconds of silent meditation.
3. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE:

Mayor Whitehead called for Mayor Pro-Tem Forrister to lead the Pledge of Allegiance.
4. APPROVAL OF AGENDA:

Mayor Pro-Tem Forrister moved to approve the agenda as submitted.

Commissioner Baca seconded the motion. Roll call was taken by the Clerk-

Treasurer. Motion carried unanimously.

C. PUBLIC COMMENT:

Christie LaFont approached the Commission with comments related to her support for
improvements to the Louis Armijo Soccer Field that was listed on the ICIP.



CITY COMMISSION AUGUST 25, 2021 REGULAR MEETING MINUTES

Ariel Dougherty approached the Commission with various comments. (Complete copy
attached hereto, and made a part hereof).

Ron Fenn approached the Commission with comments related to item E3 “Special
election Resolution” and he asked that the text of the Resolution in question be added
to the Special election Resolution so it is clear to the voter on what they are voting for.

D. CONSENT CALENDAR:
1. City Commission Special Budget/Finance Workshop Minutes, August 9,
2021
2. City Commission Regular Minutes, August 11, 2021
3. Acknowledge Regular Public Utility Advisory Board Minutes, July 19,
2021

Commissioner Baca moved to approve the consent calendar as submitted. Mayor
Pro-Tem Forrister seconded the motion. Roll call was taken by the Clerk-
Treasurer. Motion carried unanimously.

E. ORDINANCES/RESOLUTIONS/ZONING:
1. Discussion/Action: Resolution No. 16 21/22 in support of the
Infrastructure Capital Improvement Plan (ICIP) for the Sierra Joint
Office on Aging (SJOA):

Crystal Walton, SJOA Executive Director reviewed the Sierra Joint Office on Aging’s
(SJOA) Infrastructure Capital Improvement Plan (ICIP).

Mayor Pro-Tem Forrister moved to approve Resolution No. 16 21/22 in support of
the Infrastructure Capital Improvement Plan (ICIP) for the Sierra Joint Office on
Aging (SJOA). Commissioner Aragon seconded the motion. Roll call was taken
by the Clerk-Treasurer. Motion carried unanimously.

2. Discussion/Action: Resolution No. 17 21/22 Approve resolution, list,
and ranking for the FY 2023-2027 Infrastructure Capital Improvement
Plan (ICIP) as required by DFA:

Traci Alvarez, Assistant City Manager explained that the packet consists of a list of 61
projects, and the list was comprised with input from city staff, department heads, and
public input that we received. The Commission is being asked to add or remove, and
rank the projects you see before you.

Each department head gave a brief overview of their top priorities.

Page 2 of 11



Public Comment — Truth or Consequences City Commission — August 24, 2021
Ariel Dougherty

Good morning, Commissioners. The public welfare is the most significant obligation and honor
of your role as public servants. What efforts do you make to achieve this sacred responsibility? What
are your visions and interaction with citizens that you bring to the decisions you make on our behalf?
Who outside of your familiar circle, surely not other Commissioners, have you discussed or sought
advice on any of the issues on today's agenda?

As a Commission you called for public input into improving our city's infrastructure. Sadly, city
o are depriving you to learn of conributions from citizens in how the City might progress. You
might ask Traci Alvarez what happened. The ICIP submissions in the packet are governmental requests
serving city departamental needs. These are not necessarily in service of the public welfare.

Your confusion about serving the public welfare is overshadowed by your response to a large,
often familial city staff with a vast host of needs. Those needs range from protection against dangerous
dogs to desiring a new backhoe, a growing questionable choice in the age of global warming. The
imposition of smart meters on all electric customers underscores how this Commmssion fails to address
the public welfare. Every presentation on the AMIs accentuated City worker concerns, never the
advantages or good that such meters might bring to the public. You might think I stand here alone. I am o’! v
not. 240 citizens signed the accompanying petition to rescind Resolution 5 21/22. Many signed this
petition because they clearly understood the Resolution's vindictiveness. The actual wording your
counsel has designed for the proposed public vote is highly problematic, bordering fraudulence.

Why do you insist on constantly violating state laws, your oaths of office, even your own laws
and rules? Today you were to hear an appeal by me on Resolution 5 21/22 based on the new rules you
yourselves established July 28th. Mr Rubin, however, countered the process and had the item removed
from the agenda. Why allowed him to manipulate and control the public agenda? Most egregious, and
ironic, a city meter reader has disasterously misread my electric meter. This sloppiness makes a
mockery of your outrageous $50 extra charge. Promised last Friday such charges would be waived, this
glaring abuse remains on my bill. When, I demand, will your Commission hear my appeal?

Last, beware of White Knight Saviour syndrome. But I have run out of time to explain. Maybe

you will widen your circle of citizen input and call me for a fuller explanation.



CITY COMMISSION AUGUST 25, 2021 REGULAR MEETING MINUTES

The results of the top 5 projects are as follows:
#1: Marie Street Improvements.
#2: Substation Primary Underground Feeder Replacement.
#3: Solid Waste Roll off Truck and Dumpsters.
#4: Street Department 4000 Gal. Water Truck.
#5: Animal Shelter Kennel Building.

Mayor Pro-Tem Forrister moved to approve Resolution No. 17 21/22, as well as
the list, and ranking for the FY 2023-2027 Infrastructure Capital Improvement Plan
(ICIP) as noted. Commissioner Baca seconded the motion. Roll call was taken by
the Clerk-Treasurer. Motion carried unanimously.

3. Discussion/Action: Special Election Resolution No. 18 21/22 calling
for a Special Election on Tuesday, February 15, 2022 for the purpose
of a petition against Resolution No. 05 21/22:

City Clerk Torres explained that she received a petition on August 12, 2021 against
Resolution No. 05 21/22 which was the resolution imposing a $50 monthly fee to retain
a digital meter in lieu of an AMI meter. As shown in the packet, the required number of
signatures needed for a special election to occur in regards to this petition was 152
signatures. There were 240 signatures on the petition, and after the verification process
occurred, there were 197 valid signatures. The date of the special election is February
15, 2022, and it will be conducted through the Office of the County Clerk. This will be a
mail ballot election for all registered City of Truth or Consequences qualified electors.
She also noted that she does not have a problem with adding the text of Resolution No.
05 21/22 to the special election Resolution, and she noted that she will also include the
language that the fee is monthly fee, and not a one-time fee.

City Attorney Rubin explained that the packet includes State Statute 3-14-17, and
Paragraph A states that the ordinance or resolution shall become ineffective upon
verification of the petition and the commission shall within 10 days of verification adopt a
resolution calling for the holding of a special election on the measure within ninety days
of the verification of the petition. With that being said, even though the word shall is
included within that statute, there is an annotation that exhibits the cases which have
been decided by the Supreme Court, and interprets this particular statute. He has
discussed the matter with his co-counsel John Appel, and even though the word shall is
present in the state statute, there is an annotation called an Exception to Referendum
Power which states: The referendum power of voters, Subsection A of this section, and
the city charter was subject to an implied exception for administrative and executive
matters, and an ordinance that changed the rate charged by a city-owned utility was an
administrative matter within the scope of the exception. Johnson vs. City of
Alamogordo. (Complete copy attached hereto, and made a part hereof). What the
Supreme Court was saying is when you have an ordinance or resolution which
classifies more as administrative in nature, you are not required to hold a special
election. It is based upon what the Commission feels is most appropriate to do, and he

Page 3 of 11



of the petition. - i

jall:be the phrases:: :
r the above measure", and
ainst the above measure",

I;

COMMISSION-MANAGER FORM OF GOVERNMENT; MUNICIPALITIES OVER 1,000 3-14-18

7. Commission-manager; referendum; subjects pet1t10n° electlon,
 effect; repeal of emergency measure. )

P e

i .thhlp thirty days followmg the adoptlon of an ordmance or resolution, a petltlon,l signed

@ahﬁed electors in a numiber more than twenty. percent of the average number . of voters
ed at the previous four regular municipal elections or more than twenty percent of the
fvoters who voted at the previous regular municipal election, whichever is the greater, is
to the commissipon asking that the ordinance or resolution in question be submitted to

¥

. .
- R it

e%allot shall contain the text of the ordmauee or resolutlon in question. Below the text

lIbwed by spaces for ma.rkmg the ballot with a cross or check or other mark necessary for

i ';‘ jpet counting of the ballot, in order to cast a vote for the phrase. desired. If a magohty of the

st the measure, it shall not take effect.

4 &t

jstory: 1968 Comp., § 14-18»17 enacted by Laws
965, ch, 800; 1985, ch. 208, § 118. .
) Qross references. — For examinations of signatures,
ing and judicial review of petitions, see 3-1-5 NMSA

The 1988 amendment inserted "upon verification of
petltion" foll “resolution shall hecome ineffec-

I'provide for an election", "ninety days"” for "sixty

"veriﬂcahon of the petition" for "filing of the petntion
t the end of Subséction A, and inserted "the ballot” fol-
'lawing "gpaces for marking" and "or check or other mark
neocessary for proper counting of the ballot, in order to cast
& vote for" preceding "the phrase desu-ed near the middle
of Bibsection B.

n ‘;’ 3t

. ' ANNOTATIONS

L!beral construction. — Proviexone reserving to the
go le the power of referendum are to be given a liberal
. nstruction to effectuate the policy thereby adopted. City
. Comm'n v. State ex rel. Nichols, 1966-NMSC-104, 76 N.M.
1138 438, 408 P,2d 924. .

No time Hmit is set out for the filing of referen-
dutu petitions on emergency measures. City Comm'n
% 2Sdtatux rel. Nichols, 1988- NMSC-104 78 N.M. 438,405

924

*

adopt; election.

chithriioh R

" bubstituted "within ten days of verification adopt
@Msolution calling for the holding of a special el ion"

cast favor the measure, it shall take effect immediately. If a maJonty of the, votes caet are

o If an ordinance or resolution is an emergency measure, it shall go mto effect 1mmed1ate1y,
it may be repealed by an adverse majority at a referendum electlon '

Exception to referendum power. — Thé referendum
power of voters’ inder Subsection A of this section ‘and
the city charter ‘was subject to an implied exception for
administrative and executive matters, and an ordinance
that changed the rate charged by a city-gwned utility was
an administrative mattér within the scope of the excep-
tion. Johnson v. City ofAlamogordo 1996 NMSC-004 121
N.M. 282,910 P.2d §08.

Summary ' of .ordinance. only tequlred. — Where
Subsection B of this section states "the ballot ghall con-
tain the text, " the statutory language can be construed as
requirinig only a summary of the ordinance to be decided
upon. Turner v. Barnhart, 1972-NMSC-086, 83 N.M. 759,
497 P.2d 970. .

Failure to print entire ‘ordinance does not void
election; - Where Subsection B of this section provides
"the ballot shall contain the:text of the ordinance or réso-
lution in question,” failure to print the entire ordmanqe
on the ballot does not amount to an lrregulanty in the
election that is substantial énough to' void the eléction
and-cireumvent the will of the voters involved.. Turner v.
Barnhart, 1972-NMSC-038, 83 N.M. 769, 497 P.2d 970).

Am, Jur, 2d, AL.R. and C.J.S. reterencee. 42 Am.
Jur. 2d Initiative and Referendum 8§ 7, 9 et seq.

Right of signer of petition or remonstrance to with-

I draw therefrom or revoke  withdrawal in time therefor, 27

ALR.2d 604.
62 C J.S. Municipal Corpot'atxons §8 311 t0'827.

3-14-18. Commission-manager 1n1t1at1ve- failure of commission to

y
i

A. . In ahy commission-manager municipality, upon petition, signed by the qualified electors in
a number more than twenty percent. of the average number of voters who voted at the previous
lm t gul mm cigal electlops or more than twenty percent of the number of voters who voted at
t«hg us.regular, municipal elect;on, whichever is the greater, any measure may be proposed
;bhe bonimisswn foi' enactment mthm thxrty days of the date of venﬂcatlon of the petltlon If the

©°2020 State of NewMexico. New Mexico Compilation Commission. All rights reserved.




CITY COMMISSION AUGUST 25, 2021 REGULAR MEETING MINUTES

understands if you choose not to go forward with the election, we will probably be in
litigation. He can never predict what is going to happen in court, but he thinks based
upon what we just read, we have a pretty good argument. In the case of Johnson vs.
City of Alamogordo there is some language that he feels is in our favor, and that is
because of the fact that it is basically a rate making process, which is basically what the
Johnson vs. City of Alamogordo case is saying. We are basically talking about is that
we were implementing new technology (which were the AMI meters), and that would
affect the rates of the people who opted not to get the AMI meter. Therefore, he and
City Attorney Appel thinks if it were to go to litigation, they would have a few good
arguments to defend such an action. He is not here to push the Commission into not
voting for the referendum, but nevertheless he wanted them to hear, if they choose not
to go in that direction, he thinks we will have a defendable position.

Mayor Pro-Tem Forrister asked what a special election would cost the city.

City Clerk Torres responded that the city will not pay for it since we opted into the Local
Election Act. Everything goes through the County, and they will cover the fees. She
believes that the cost of our last special election was somewhere around $12,000 to
$15,000. It will be a mail in ballot election, and it gets a bit expensive to mail all of the
ballots to the qualified electors, and provide postage for all of the returned ballots.

City Manager Swingle stated that he appreciates City Attorney Rubin’s research, and
exploring all of the options. He knows that the Secretary of State has administratively
made some decisions not to pursue referendums based on proclamations that she has
received on executive powers. However, he does not know the full gamut of the facts of
the Johnson vs. City of Alamogordo case, and he does not know if the facts are similar
to ours or different. There were a large number of people who signed the petition for
whatever reason, so it may be in the best interest of the city to move forward with
having a special election, and let the chips fall where they fall. The fee was a trade up
by the Commission for those individuals that decided to opt-out. He thinks some will
advocate that the price is unfair, and he keeps hearing the language “unlawful” which he
does not abide by in any way shape or form, but he thinks it should go to an election,
and then we will respond accordingly when we have a voter decision.

Commissioner Aragon asked if this goes to an election what happens to the fee.

City Attorney Rubin explained that the resolution would not be in effect.

City Clerk Torres also explained, as of right now, since the petition has been verified,
anybody who had opted-out from having an AMI Meter will not be charged the $50 fee

until it is decided in the election.

Commissioner Aragon asked if they vote against the fee, do we start again, and come
up with another fee?

Page 4 of 11



CITY COMMISSION AUGUST 25, 2021 REGULAR MEETING MINUTES

City Manager Swingle stated that would be the Commission’s option. They can look at
another option, whether it be a lesser fee or no fee. They could come up with a number
of different scenarios, but the $50 fee would be deemed inappropriate.

Mayor Pro-Tem Forrister asked if the $50 fee is deemed inappropriate as of right now,
or after the election.

City Manager Swingle stated that we are on hold right now.
Mayor Pro-Tem Forrister asked if we have to have an election.

City Attorney Rubin responded, if you decide to have the election, then the fee goes on
hold, but if you decide not to have an election, then we would have to hear the appeals
that have been filed. He advised City Manager Swingle, and City Clerk Torres that it
may not be appropriate to have the appeals on this agenda, when we didn't know if we
were going to have an election or not.

Mayor Pro-Tem Forrister asked if we go to election, and it is voted down, will it still
comes back to the Commission for a vote on fees.

City Attorney Rubin responded yes, and you can even come back, and say that you are
not going to allow for anyone to opt-out.

Mayor Pro-Tem Forrister stated that the Commission has already set a fee, so what is
the point in spending all of this money on an election that the tax payers are going to
have to pay for.

Commissioner Aragon explained that he voted to keep the fee at $25 per month, and
that was based on research on what was reasonable. We went with $50 per month, but
he feels that they need to think about that again because there was research done to
come up with a $25 trip fee.

Mayor Pro-Tem Forrister feels that no matter what fee they choose, there will still be the
same people who are opposed of the fee, and we are still going to have the same
outcome.

Commissioner Aragon stated if it gets to court they may lower the fee.

Mayor Whitehead explained that the fees are not being imposed at this time because of
the petition, and the resolution that is on the agenda today.

Commissioner Aragon stated that this whole thing started with a determination that was
administrative, and why there was no vote necessary to go to smart meters.

Mayor Pro-Tem Forrister explained when the new Commissioners came on board, it
was the will of the Commission at that point in time to not give an opt-out option. It was

Page 5 of 11



CITY COMMISSION AUGUST 25, 2021 REGULAR MEETING MINUTES

all or nothing, so when Commissioner Luna came on board, she was trying to meet the
customers in the middle, and that's when the fee was imposed. It's pointless to waste
money on a special election when the issue will still come back to Commission, and
they will still make another decision on the fee.

City Manager Swingle explained if it comes back to the Commission in the future, and
you make another decision on the fee, there is no guarantee that the new fee will not be
petitioned even if it is at a lower rate. As our City Attorney mentioned, you didn’t have to
give an option in the first place, so if you decide not to allow an opt-out option, there is
no guarantee that there will not be a petition on that as well.

e The Commissioners mentioned that they were informed that some people may
have been misled on the context of the petition.

Mayor Whitehead explained that the city had public hearings, and public meetings in
regards to the AMI meters for approximately 6 years or so before the AMI meters were
even instalied. Everyone had an opportunity to speak on this matter during those
meetings, and when we finally went with the AMI meters, the previous Commission was
thinking about having an opt-out option, but nothing was ever implemented for an opt-
out program. The opt-out option was again discussed when the new Commissioners
came on board, and it was said that we were either all in, or we are all out, and we
chose to go all in. There were 3 or 4 people who then came in and filed their appeal of
having the AMI meters installed, and the decision was made at that time to implement
the $50 monthly fee, and move forward. Now we have this petition before us, and it
seems that we are never going to solve this issue, so today she is asking the
Commission to do the right thing, and decide to either move forward with the special
election, or not move forward with it due to the research provided by City Attorney
Rubin.

City Attorney Rubin explained that City Attorney Appel strongly recommended not
moving forward with the special election.

Mayor Pro-Tem Forrister explained that we cannot keep spending tax payer's money
every single time we charge a fee.

Mayor Pro-Tem Forrister moved to not approve Resolution No. 18 21/22 calling for
a Special election on Tuesday, February 15, 2022 for the purpose of a petition
against Resolution No. 05 21/22. Commissioner Baca seconded the motion. Roll
call was taken by the Clerk-Treasurer. Motion carried unanimously.

Page 6 of 11



CITY COMMISSION AUGUST 25, 2021 REGULAR MEETING MINUTES

4. Discussion/Action: Resolution No. 19 21/22 rescinding the
Commission’s action to name Triangle Park the 911 Memorial
Monument Park, and to locate a 911 Memorial in the park:

City Manager Swingle explained on June 23, 2021 the Commission approved to re-
name the Triangle Park the 911 Memorial Monument Park, and to locate a 911
Memorial in the park. We subsequently found out that we maintain that park, but the
property is actually owned by the New Mexico Department of Transportation. The
individual who was trying to erect the monument at the park has rescinded their request.
Therefore, we are asking the Commission to rescind the action that was approved on
June 23, 2021.

Mayor Pro-Tem Forrister moved to approve Resolution No. 19 21/22 rescinding
the Commission’s action to name Triangle Park the 911 Memorial Monument
Park, and to locate a 911 Memorial in the park. Commissioner Aragon seconded
the motion. Roll call was taken by the Clerk-Treasurer. Motion carried
unanimously.

F. NEW BUSINESS:
1. Discussion/Update: Update on the re-opening plans for Sierra Joint
Office on Aging (SJOA):

Crystal Walton, SJOA Executive Director explained that is has been a very long and
trying year with the COVID Pandemic, restrictions, and closures. She acknowledged the
staff that has been working with them throughout the entire Pandemic. Without them the
SJOA Center would not be open. SJOA has been given a ton of different guidance on
how they need to proceed in order to operate the Senior Center. However, the fact that
they do not have enough staff to operate is the primary reason why they have not been
able to open the congregate setting at this time. They are currently running at a 30%
deficit in staffing, and that is pre-COVID. With the added safety guidelines, and security,
the majority of her staff are pulling workloads of 2-3 people a day. The other part of it is
that they would have to double down on their kitchen staffing because they are still
required to provide the “grab and go” outside of the facility. However, they have been
able to open up the home making services, and transportation program. They are
hoping to expand the transportation program at the beginning of September, and that
will allow them to transport seniors who are fully vaccinated to Las Cruces.

2. Discussion/Action: Approval of Purchase Requisitions over $20,000:

Carol Kirkpatrick, Finance Director reviewed the Purchase Requisitions over $20,000
that were provided in the packet.

Mayor Pro-Tem Forrister moved to approve the Purchase Requisitions over

$20,000. Commissioner Baca seconded the motion. Roll call was taken by the
Clerk-Treasurer. Motion carried unanimously.

Page 7 of 11



CITY COMMISSION AUGUST 25, 2021 REGULAR MEETING MINUTES

3. Discussion/Action: Authorization to open a new checking account at
First Savings Bank for “Special Revenue” funds:

Carol Kirkpatrick, Finance Director explained that the City has received the first half of
Fiscal Recovery Funds in the amount of $712,404. These funds need to be kept
separated from capital or general funds for record keeping and accountability. The
second half of these funds will be received in the 2022-2023 fiscal year.

Commissioner Baca made a motion to approve the authorization to open a new
checking account at First Savings Bank for “Special Revenue” funds. Mayor Pro-
Tem Forrister seconded the motion. Roll call was taken by the Clerk-Treasurer.
Motion carried unanimously.

4. Discussion/Action: Approval of User Agreement, and Inter-
Governmental Service Agreement for Traffic & Criminal Software
between the New Mexico Department of Public Safety, and the Truth
or Consequences Police Department:

Police Chief Rodriguez explained that this has been a system that has been out there
for a while, and this will allow the Police Department to access software that will allow
them to give an electronic traffic citation, and make electronic crash reports. It will also
allow us to share information between the agencies that are agreed to share the
database. A lot of agencies in New Mexico use the database, including the State Police.
They will also provide us with grant funding for five in-car printers, and five in-car
scanners to scan licenses.

Mayor Pro-Tem Forrister moved to approve the User Agreement, and Inter-
Governmental Service Agreement for Traffic & Criminal Software between the
New Mexico Department of Public Safety, and the Truth or Consequences Police
Department. Commissioner Baca seconded the motion. Roll call was taken by the
Clerk-Treasurer. Motion carried unanimously.

5. Discussion/Action: Review and approval of Take-Home Vehicle forms
for various departments:

City Manager Swingle explained that the Commission recently approved a Resolution
creating a Vehicle Take Home Policy, and with that policy it is required that we bring the
forms to the Commission for approval to authorize take home vehicle for various
departments. Overtime, he would like to eliminate this process so that we can do this
administratively. He then briefly reviewed the forms provided in the packet, and stated
that some of the individuals who are listed on the forms are on-call individuals who are
rotated every two weeks, and they will not always have a take home vehicle.

Page 8 of 11



CITY COMMISSION AUGUST 25,2021 REGULAR MEETING MINUTES

Commissioner Baca moved to approve the Take-Home Vehicle forms for various
departments. Mayor Pro-Tem Forrister seconded the motion. Roll call was taken
by the Clerk-Treasurer. Motion carried unanimously.

6. Discussion/Action: Selection of voting delegate for the 2021 New
Mexico Municipal League Annual Conference.

City Manager Swingle explained that we recently received a notification from the New
Mexico Municipal League that we need to re-assign the voting delegate for the City of
Truth or Consequences to vote on behalf of the City during the Municipal League
conferences.

Mayor Pro-Tem Forrister made a motion to select Mayor Whitehead to act as the
voting delegate and go with Mayor Whitehead’s recommendation to have herself
(Mayor Pro-Tem Forrister) act as the Alternate voting delegate for the 2021 New
Mexico Municipal League Annual Conference. Commissioner Baca seconded the
motion. Roll call was taken by the Clerk-Treasurer. Motion carried unanimously.

G. REPORTS:

City Manager Swingle reported the following:

e There will be a Sierra Vista Hospital Governing Board meeting on August 26,
2021.

o We started providing professionalism training to our staff. We started with our
directors and supervisors of the organization. We have about a 40 hour block of
training that will be set up over the next couple of months. We will start with the
course, and then we will make sure to educate everyone within the organization.
The professionalism expectations that the organization has is clearly identified in
the draft Personnel Policy. In his experience, you typically don't fire a lot of
people for performance issues. When you have to discipline or terminate
employees, it's usually based on behavior or ethical issues. He invited the
Commissioners to join the trainings if they wish to do so.

e The safety policy has been circulated to the departments for review and
feedback. It is very likely that we will have it on the next City Commission
agenda. We don’t have a safety committee, and an organization of our size does
not necessarily need a safety officer. Therefore, safety will now be the
responsibility of the departments.

o We received notification that the State approved our FY 2021/2022 Budget. He
congratulated Carol Kirkpatrick, and her finance team for working very hard, and
diligently to get the budget to where it needed to be.

e The new census data is out on the County level, and unfortunately we saw
another decrease in population for Sierra County. In October we should start
seeing the data released for the City level. The drop is due to the economy, or
lack of, so we really need to look at growing our economy.

Page 9 of 11



CITY COMMISSION AUGUST 25, 2021 REGULAR MEETING MINUTES

e We had a 12 inch Water Main leak that just occurred a few minutes ago. He will
be out there to check it out as soon as this meeting is over. He doesn't have any
other information about it at this point. However, he was informed that the
schools have been cancelled for the remainder of the day because of the Water
Main break.

e We received notification from USDA on our Phase | Water Infrastructure citywide
project. The Commission has already approved the letter to USDA, and should
we act on that letter, the total amount of funding would be $7,531,000.
$2,720,000 would be a grant, and the loan portion would be $4,811,000. The
Water Department does not have a lot of bandwidth left with the existing loans
that they have, so we will have to sit down, and look at this very closely to see
what we need to do, and if we should move forward with this or not. USDA did
not recommend a rate increase at this time for this loan. The deadline to have
the letter submitted is Friday at noon.

o Staff is doing an amazing job, and they are very receptive to moving forward as
an organization.

City Attorney Rubin had no reports.
City Commission Reports:
Mayor Pro-Tem Forrister had no reports.

Commissioner Aragon reported the following:
o He knows that the Keep Truth or Consequences Clean & Beautiful Advisory
Board did not work out, but wanted to make it known that he has received an
email from a citizen named Jim Davis about how he thought that the board was a
great idea.

Commissioner Baca reported the following:

e A group of people went around asking citizens to sign a petition. He is not sure
what they were telling the citizens, but he wanted to make it known that the $50
monthly trip fee is only for those individuals who have opted-out of having an AMI
meter. The fee is not for everyone who has an AMI meter.

Mayor Whitehead had no reports.

H." EXECUTIVE SESSION:
1. Threatened & Pending Litigation (Clover Leaf Water Rights Case)
pursuant to 10-15-1(H.7):

Commissioner Baca made a motion to go into executive session at 11:21 a.m. to
discuss Threatened & Pending Litigation (Clover Leaf Water Rights Case)
pursuant to 10-15-1(H.7). Mayor Whitehead seconded the motion. Roll call vote
was taken by the Clerk-Treasurer. Motion carried unanimously.

Page 10 of 11



CITY COMMISSION AUGUST 25, 2021 REGULAR MEETING MINUTES

Mayor Whitehead reconvened the meeting in open session at 11:40 a.m.

Mayor Pro-Tem Forrister certified that only matters pertaining to Threatened &
Pending Litigation (Clover Leaf Water Rights Case) pursuant to 10-15-1(H.7) was
discussed in Executive Session and no action was taken.

. ADJOURNMENT:

Commissioner Baca moved to adjourn at 11:45 a.m. Mayor Pro-Tem Forrister
seconded the motion. Motion carried unanimously.

Passed and Approved this 8" day of September, 2021.

Sandra Whitehead, Mayor

ATTEST:

Angela A. Torres, CMC, City Clerk

Page 11 of 11



City of Truth or Consequences
AGENDA REQUEST FORM

Agenda Item #: ‘E. 1

MEETING DATE: September 8, 2021

SUBJECT: Public Hearing/Discussion/Action: Final Adoption of Ordinance No. 719 relating to Administration
adopting a Personnel Policy setting forth Personnel Rules and Regulations, and establishing consistent basic
policies, practices, professionalism, and expectations concerning relations between the City of Truth or
Consequences and its employees.

DEPARTMENT: City Manager

DATE SUBMITTED: September 2, 2021

SUBMITTED BY: City Manager Swingle

WHO WILL PRESENT THE ITEM: City Manager Swingle

Summary/Background:

The proposed Ordinance No. 719 is to adopt a Personnel Policy setting forth Personnel Rules and Regulations,
and establishing consistent basic Policies, Practices, and Professionalism Expectations concerning relations
between the City of Truth or Consequences and its Employees.

Recommendation:

Public Hearing and approval of Ordinance No. 719 Personnel Rules and Regulations.

Attachments:

e Proposed Ordinance No. 719
e Redline proposed Ordinance No. 719

Fiscal Impact (Finance): No

Legal Review (City Attorney): Yes

Approved For Submittal By: X Department Director
Reviewed by: City Clerk [ Finance Legal [ Other: -
Final Approval: X City Manager

CITY CLERK’S USE ONLY - COMMISSION ACTION TAKEN

Resolution No.. Ordinance No. 719
Continued To: . Referred To:

] Approved (] Denied [Clother: .
File Name: CC Agenda 9-8-2021




CITY OF TRUTH OR CONSEQUENCES
BOARD OF CITY COMMISSIONERS
ORDINANCE Ne 719

An Ordinance Relating to Administration, Adopting a Personnel Policy; Setting forth
Personnel Rules and Regulations Establishing Consistent, Basic Policies and Practices, and
Professionalism Expectations Concerning Relations between the City and its Employees

PREAMBLE

WHEREAS, NMSA 1978, Section 3-18-1 provides that municipalities, have the power
to “protect generally the property of its municipality and its inhabitants” and to “preserve peace
and order”; and,

WHEREAS, NMSA 1978, Section 3-17-1 provides that cities may adopt ordinances, not
inconsistent with statutory or constitutional limitations placed on cities, to discharge those
powers necessary and proper to provide for the safety, preserve the health, promote the
prosperity and improve the morals, order, comfort and convenience of the city and its
inhabitants; and,

WHEREAS, NMSA 1978, Section 3-13-4 (1965) allows municipalities to establish a
personnel merit system for the hiring, promotion, discharge and general regulation of municipal
employees; and,

WHEREAS, the City of Truth or Consequences has a right and responsibility to the
taxpayers to set reasonable professional, ethical, performance, and behavioral expectations for
employees, supervisors and managers to ensure tax dollars are used in an appropriate and
efficient manner; and,

WHEREAS, City of Truth or Consequences employees have an expectation and a right

to be treated fairly, consistently and professionally while employed with the City of Truth or
Consequences.

Pagei



Table of Contents

Contents
PREAMBLE ...ttt sttt sttt bttt e be s abebseteeteseenssnsanessenseneansons i
Table Of CONENLS.......c..o.eeiriieiriee ettt ettt et b e e esesae e eressssbesrensensennes ii
SECTION I: DEFINITIONS ....coiiiiiiititiiisteeiestesttscetee et eve e et ebe s e st sssnsenseneasrasnessas 1
SECTION II: EMPLOYMENT STATUS ..ottt ettt 5
2.1 POSition SPeCIfiCatiONS.......cccevveieirireirrieieiriestetctete ettt ese s rer e b s en e 5
SECTION III: GENERAL PROVISIONS ..ottt eteerreee et estesse et eavesnestesnesans 6
FL PUIPOSE ..ttt ettt ettt et sa e sa e et e et e st e beebsebeereennenrenneeseeseennensereeas 6
F.2 SCOPE. .ttt ettt e b e beeaserterr e s e sheebeeheebententesaenrensonsenteans 6
3.3 Amendment of Rules & RegUIAtIONS.........c.ccvecieiirieiieicteeeieeeetecteer et en e 6
3.4 Employee Knowledge & Information of Rules & Regulations..............ccccovvvvevivvvvuinrernennen. 6
3.5 Equal Employment Opportunity Rules & Regulations ...........c..ccccccvvvviviecinieicvenecrenee. 6
3.6 Administration by City ManaEer. ...........cceeieieeeieiieiereeecreeeere et et sre e esessesaesanenses 6
3.7 Duties of All EMPIOYEES.......ccccceriririiieieirieietreseteeseiet ettt sese et bt ve s et ene e seas 6
3.8 Chain of Command & Conflict ReSOIULION ........cceoueieririieiieicieiceceeeee e 7
3.9 Conflict with Collective Bargaining Agreements. ..........ccceeeevereeeeerieerineeniereeesessesnesseseeens 7
3.10 Code Of ELhiCS. .....coctriviiieiriinieieieircsece ettt e et et er vt stesseassssateneeesnesseseesaensons 7
SECTION IV: RECRUITMENT AND SELECTION ......ocooiiieteeeeeciteeecee ettt 10
B.1 PUIPOSE. ..ottt ettt st ettt b e b e be et e b e s essebesbentesseseeseneennans 10
4.2 Recruitment of APPLICANTS .........cceiviirienirieteiecteeee ettt err et et steere s s e s eseeaes 10
4.3 Temporarily Filling Vacant POSItIONS...........cccecveririniecieeciceeece et 10
4.4 Best Qualified & Best-Suited Applicant Determination ............c.cccceevevevveervceiineeererenane 10
4.5 SEIECHION .....everiiierieiiinieteee sttt ettt e e e e it eae e s e b e b e ebsensente s esbesrseneensensenseasesas 10
4.6 Pre-Selection Prohibited ...........ccceivierieieiriiniiciieccceeeeereer et b et 10
4.7 Ineligibility for Hire and REhire ...........ccccevivveireiinieieeeeeee e 10
B8 TESHINE ....veereieterteetetet sttt e ste st e et et r et e s st e e e sseessesseseenseaessseteassensessesseenesasenseneanes 11
4.9 Background Investigation.............coouiuiiiiiiiiiiiiiii e 11
4.10 Commencement Of WOTK.........ccccooiririiiininincneseeccee ettt 11
SECTION V: CHANGES IN EMPLOYMENT STATUS ..o 12
5.1 PIOMOTION ...oovviiiiiieeietesteseec ettt et et eere et ebeene e e enseseessessesneonsensansenseseessssrsssseseas 12
5.2 Evaluation Period.........cooueiviriiiiiiiiiecintcete ettt sttt et b 12
5.3 DEIMOLION ....ouiniiniiieiieiiietet sttt teb et et e tebe et s s ebasbe s essersesesesreesessensessssensesenesnssnns 12
5.4 TIANSTETS ..ottt ettt et te et et ene s e se s s e aeebesaeontonesarentastesaesntennes 12
5.5 RESIZNATION ...ttt ettt sttt e et et e st e s ereseeseesesseseensenestensensenesesasensenne 12
5.6 Layoff PrOCEAUIE ........cccoceiiiitirieieieteccee ettt sttt sae st e eme e 13
5.7 Layoff Return PrivII@@es........ccccvieiirieniiiiieiesiie ettt ettt et sresene s e 13
5.8 Medical Disability Dismissal............ccoceirenirrieniniiesiereeetereeree e nnes 13
5.9 REINSTALEMENT ....vouveniiieireniieeeietctei et este e e s e et ete b ereeneesr st e s estessessesneenesasenseseesseenesnees 13



SECTION VI: CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT ......cccccooiinirrereei et 14

6.1 Probationary Period for New Hires ........c.cccoovveviiieiiiciecececteceecce e 14
6.2 Temporary Employee Hired to a Regular PoSition.............cc.oceeeeeeiiiiiiniineeeeceeneeneenenn 14
6.3 Former City Employees Hired t0 @ POSItiON........c.coecveiiiiieniieiieieciecceeeceeeeeve e 14
6.4 Permitted Political ACHIVITIES ......cccirieriiierereeteieetet ettt st r s sersenens 14
6.5 Prohibited Political ACHIVItIES......ccueveveriecieieieteiee ettt besesa e eneaens 15
6.6 PUblic/Political OffiCe ........ccceviriiieiiiiiiececieeeeteec ettt ettt ae s snens 15
6.7 NEPOUISITL....c.eeeiiiiirieieet ettt stere st et e ees e s te et et e s e stestaesseaseebeebaeseesesteensontanseatesasonsessossonsan 15
6.8 CONTICE BAN.....couiiiiiiiiiicietete ettt ettt st bttt ae st enseseeneenen 16
6.9 Outside EMPIOYMENL .......ooviciiiiiriiiiriieictestceceeeste ettt et eae e eene s 16
6.10 Workplace & Sexual Harassment. ...........cccoceevrermnnenseieeeeiesseee e ssevesens 16
6.11 Performance Evaluations/Goals.............ccoiiiiiiiiiii e 18
6.12 FItness for DULY.....o.oiiiii it 20
6.13 Anti-Fraternization. ........ooiuitiiiiii e e e e 22
SECTION VII: BASIS FOR EMPLOYEE DISCIPLINE..........cooecoiiieieeteeeeeeeeeeeee v 22
7.1 DISCIPLINE ...ttt ettt st e et e et et e s esb b sseseeseessestensesbesnsassonsonsossesesesessens 22
7.2 Definition 0f JUSt CAUSE........cccoivrririririireieieeeteec ettt v e st bstesae s e e sreneas 23
7.3 DiSCIPHNATY ACHOMN......c.ciiriiieiereirteirieccretteieet sttt bessebe e b e n s s ebe s beseas 23
7.4 Consultation With City AtEOINEY ......c.cccceeeerienieririeieieecientecre et er e e eseeeeseestesaneressens 23
7.5 Progressive DISCIPLINE ......c..ccevvererrieiinieinicineer st s ee et ae b rens 23
7.6 Verbal Reprimand...........ccocovivieiiiieniniinieiicieeseeeete et ne st s e sstessesaesaens 23
7.7 Written Reprimand ...........ccoeciivriiieiiiiniiecieiece ettt eve et s sonesae st ennsten e 24
7.8 SUSPEIISION ....vinrtiniiniieiieteeniriete ettt sttt et e s b e st e e s e se s st astesass et esassereasesseseresseneesssesenes 24
7.9 DEIMOLION ...ttt sttt seeste e e e e e ae et eaeesae b esreeseeseensenaessensestesseestensessesenessasens 25
7.10 DISIMISSAL......cceeviiiiiiieieieie sttt sttt eas et s e teneeseebesbest et e s eaeenentan 25
7.11 Examples NOt INCIUSIVE .......cceviieiiiiiiiiieeseeiee sttt ettt sneesne s e seesaneanens 26
7.12 Pre-Determination (Loudermill) HEQring .............cooeveevveeiiiiioiiniicceieeeceeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeen 26
713 WIEN NOICE ...ceveeeiiiiiiieiecetere ettt et b as et s ene s reneessetesaesaeasotennan 26
7.14 Immediate Suspension With Pay ..........cccoovoeriiieieiicceciececceece et 26
7.15 Pre-Determination Hearing Procedure ...........c.ocevvevveiecieneciiiierceeceecteee et 27
7.16 Pre-Determination Hearing DeciSion ...........ccccecvveverenieniecieieiciieeerccec e 27
7.17 NOUCE Of GIIEVANCE ......covivrerririieieieriestistetee e eseeeaesessesseeseeseeseeressessesssessersessesesssassens 27
SECTION VIII: GRIEVANCE PROCEDURES .......cccoooiintmiriiineeieeeieeeeeereee et 27
8.1 Conditions or Actions NOt GIievable ..........c..ccevrevuieiciiiieectccccreeereee e 27
8.2 Employees Not Eligible for Grievance Procedure.............ccocceeeeirierieeerieereiceiereeeveenes 28
8.3 Grievance ProCeUIE.............cccuiviriiiiiiieieiestecetet ettt a e st ettt san s 28
8.4 Appointment of Personnel Hearing OffiCer.........c.cooeveueiieiiiiniiieeieeceeeccr e 28
8.5 Hearing Officer Qualifications ..........cocccevueevieeiinireirnierseee et 28
8.6 Grievance Hearing Schedule ..ot 28
8.7 Grievance Hearing Procedures - Rules of Procedure ...........cc.oovvvveevivieeeieieieeeeeeeeeeeenn. 28
8.8 Conduct Of HEAIINE........cocieiriiiiiriereircree sttt sttt ere et bt st 29
8.9 Order of PreSentation .............cceveriirieiieiiieiieeectee st este e e e saese st snreasesessesaeseeses 29
8.10 Communication of Hearing Officer’s DeciSion...........ccceeueruierverieeevereieeceeniceeeeeveeresnens 29
8.11 Appeal of Hearing Officer’s DeCISION ........c.ccevveieiereeeieeriereceiceee et sve s 30
SECTION IX: COMPENSATION & BENEFITS ........cooooiiiieeetecteeteee et 30
0.1 PUIPOSE ...ttt ettt ettt et e et e et st e b st et esbeereeneesesnsentensentessesnnensentensesanessenens 30

Page iii



0.2 HOUES OF WOTK ..tititit ittt et e ee e ee e e e e esssessmenteasssssassassaseaesassasasssesansnssessesesesssnn 30

9.3 OVEItIME PAY ....oceeimiiiiiici ettt et st be s et se s eas s eaeebenn s 30
9.4 Consistency with Fair Labor Standards AcCt...........ccceceveevirinieiiiesecieceeie e 31
9.5 Emergency Call-Out Pay..........cooiiiiiiii e, 31
9.6 Stand-By Pay....... ..o 31
0.7 PLERA. BENELIS ...ttt ettt sttt eas b v nenns 31
9.8 InSUrance BEnefits .........cccccivireririiniiniininiiiesictcceeee et et ere v e re et eae s 31
0.9 FIiNge BeNEfits......cccooeruiveiirieiesieieeeste e nte sttt st a s ettt ere e resrennas 31
9.10 Compensatory TIMe.........ccecivveririiiiieienieieirrete e e e e ste st esaeeseesreeseereeseereerestesseesees 31
0,11 FIEX THIME ...ttt ettt e te st e et et aseteetansenesneressennas 32
SECTION X: LEAVE AND HOLIDAYS ..ottt ettt saeeste v v v s saeneestenns 32
1O.1 HOLIAYS ..ottt ettt ettt saebs et ne e e enes 32
10.2 Personal Holiday Leave..........ccooceriviriiieininiiniccecserese ettt et et 33
10.3 Annual Leave With Pay.........ccccoouiiiiiiiniceceecee ettt v st 33
10.4 Accrual LIMItation.......c.ceccvieiriiininenieirinieseseseesiestestesseseeeseeseeveereeseesesseessesesssssesnnenees 34
10.5 Separation from Service or Change in Service Pay ...........ccccecvevereeieiecicrecicreceeenne. 34
10.6 Leave Donation POLICY .......ccocivievinieniniiniteseteeeee ettt ettt sas vt saeene s 34
10.7 Sick Leave With Pay ......c.cccoiviiiiiiiniciceccee et er et n 34
10.8 Sick Leave AUthOIiZAtiON ..........ccecvivieriniirieiecicteeieeiere e resse et esresas e eresasovesne e s 35
10.9 Use of Sick Leave During Probationary Period .............cccoceveeeieveenrinreeeececreceeecneecneeneen 35
10.10 Certification of Illness for Sick Leave........cccocevuiviniriieinieeccceeeeeereee e 35
10.11 Bereavement LEaVe.........c.coceevieiiiiiiiniiiiriceese sttt e seeeeneesbserbesaesbesane s 35
10.12 Family Medical Leave ..........coceririeririeniiriniicteeeeietesiete et r s ere e seseesnereessene s 35
10.13 AdMIniStrative Leave.........ccccuviiruieieieiiecietcetese ettt eas et sas et ons e ensene s 36
10.14 Workers’ Compensation PrOGIam ............cccecveeueerieieiesiesieeecreereereeneeee e eseeseetesnsone s 36
10.15 On-The-Job INJUIy LEAVE .......ccovuiiriiriiieieieteer sttt n 37
10.16 VOUNE LEAVE ...ttt ettt v et eae b ss et restene s 37
10.17 Court Service Leave With Pay ..........cccocooiiviiiiieienecececceceterreeee et 37
10.18 Leave WithOut Pay .........ccccociiviiiiiiirieecceceeeccecrete ettt ere s et 37
10.19 Life Threatening Illnesses in the Workplace...........ccccoeieievivrereceiceececceeeeeeeee 38
10.20 Inclement WEather............ccooieviiririiiieiciniencce sttt sie e ere et v s ese e rere s ebesaeane s 38
10.21 Leave For Unforeseen CirCUmMSLANCeS .........cceeereerierienenreriesieesieiesseeeessesseneesseseesessees 38
10.22 MIIHAry LEAVE. ...cocvereiieieiriieiiienee sttt ettt ev e et re e s enee s st esnnne s 38
10.23 Light Duty Return-To-WOrK.........cccceiivirininiinienienieieireeeeseete ettt et ere s s 40
10.24 Change in FLSA StatUs ......ccccoiiiiiiriiieeeeeeetece ettt ettt sas e esssnn v sae e 41
SECTION XI: SUBSTANCE ABUSE POLICY ....ccoeotiitiniirireeieeeieteeesieee et eve et 42
L1.0 PUIPOSE ..ttt ettt ettt ettt sb e s ee st e be s et e sseensesaessenseneensennan 42
11.1 Safety Sensitive EMPIOYEES.......cccceeveeieriiiiieirenieiitesee e reereere e ere s ebe s en s 42
T1.2 POLICY vttt ettt ettt b e st s eaesbaste b ansereensseeresotesreneas 42
11.3 Prohibited SUDSLANCES........ccceeteiiiriieririciceresccee ettt ettt sae et erseas b ene s 43
11.4 Prohibited ConduCt ..........c.coeviriiriininieiisieresicsteses ettt eveer et eresssnnesre s 43
11.5 Testing Which Results In a Diluted Specimen...........c..ccveevverieeveeiereineicecceceeresene 434
11.6 Treatment REQUITEMENLS......c..cocieriiiiiriiiniirireereetee e ste e e r e ereeeaeesbeeab e besbe e s 45
11.7 Proper Application of the POLICY .......ccccovererienieninieiieesieecec ettt 45
11.8 TeSting ProCEAUIES.......cceeuirieiiriietesiec ettt er et se et b et et sas st orseneebesnneenes 45
11.9 Pre-Employment Drug & Alcohol Screening.............cocecevievienienievreereeieereeeeeceeseereeneenens 46
11.10 Employee Requested TeSting .......ccccoceveriirienienenienineccreeeeeeseeise et ene et ne s 46



11.11 Reasonable Suspicion TeSting. ........ccocovvrreririineireiiritcteteeetee ettt 46

11.12 Post-Accident TESLING.......cc.cocviieririiineieieieeieeese ettt sr e vese s e eeen 46
11.13 Random Testing........ccccvevirirenirininiriieene e feeereereerene e 47
11.14 Return-To-Duty TESHNE ......cccevvirerieirririecieeeeeeeteeteet ettt sstsaesreesessne st s ene e s 47
11.15 FOHOW-UD TESHNE......c.coveirieiieirecrierrteetreesteeste ettt er st s e e eeene 48
11.16 EMPlOyMENt ASSESSINENL .......cceetiveirieeieireeetisieeerietestetestereeseereseesessessesseressessesseseseesessan 48
11.17 Departmental Rule for Positive Drug/AlCORol Test .......c..covevevvieiiiieiieieeeereceeeeeeeeenen. 48
TT.18 RE-ENIrY CONMIACES ......c.covruiirieiiinieirteiinteienirenieete et se e es et be st tennsese st s e beneeene 49
L1 19 DIETECHION......ccviiiiieiieiertetecnicetetr et e sttt st et ettt eaeeae et e b e sasstestestsaeseesesnsesesnanes 49
11.20 Voluntary Request for ASSIStANCe. ..........cccueieuerievierierierceceieeeesiee e seeseeseesseneseenes 49
11.21 DETINITIONS ...ttt ettt eeve ettt et e st et e et et st stsns st e sesrnnesne e neneeneenen 49
FE22 RECOTAS ...ttt ettt ettt bbbt b et e st se st sasaneneseaeenene 50
11.23 Confidentially .......c.ccooveviiiriiiiiiiec ettt 50
SECTION XII: COMPUTER, EMAIL, INTERNET, SOCIAL MEDIA, & CELL USE............. 50
12,0 ACCESS ottt ettt ettt ettt et ettt essebeebe st eneeseebeasesserentenesaeanentsaanten 50
12.1 PUIPOSE & SCOPE......ooviiiriiteieeeeeircetentr ettt ettt st e easersns b st enesbesseseeseenennen 50
12.2 ACCEPLADIE USE ...ttt ettt st sttt 51
12.3 INapPropriate USE........cocevueveriirieniniinierinenesieiee ettt tese ettt enssseste s essnessensenesnenes 51
12.4 Internet, E-Mail & Cellular Phone Etiquette ...........c.ccoevieviveeeeiniceecneceeseeee e 51
12,5 SECUIILY ..eiviitiiiecet ettt et ettt sr e s st a s anesbe s asonessennasenes 52
12,6 PENALIES .......cviviiiiiciictec ettt ettt b et b s ettt s ne e e nene 52
12.7 No Expectation of PrIVACY .........ccccviiirriiniiiinrnieeiseces ettt 52
12.8 USer COMPLIANCE .......ooieeiriiiiirienteteescsectet ettt ettt r st seenenenes 52
12.9 Protection & Handling of Sensitive Information...............cecoeveevieriviiinicceccseeeenen. 52
12.10 Social Media.......o.ouiiiii e e 52
SECTION XIII: PAY POLICY ..ottt steetete sttt ettt st e 53
13,1 PUIPOSE .ottt sttt ettt eae b e b st esseassts s steaneseoneenesnenes 53
13.2 APPHICADILItY ..ottt st 53
13.3 Pay Compensation Process OVEIVIEW. .........ccuevverieererieisieeereerereeeeeieerese s ene 53
13.4 Entry Level WAES ......c.ciiiiiiiiiiiiec ettt ettt et 53
13.5 Position Specifications REQUITEMENtS ............ccceveeueeieierieiiiceccececee et 53
13.6 Grandfather Clause ..o sn e 53
13.7 Contents of Personnel File..........ccccovriiiriininioiiniiceceeceee et 53
13.8 Access t0 Personnel FIles ..........coocriieiiiiiniiiecectcec ettt 54

SECTION XIV: EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY/ AFFIRMATIVE ACTION... ....54

141 PUIPOSE .ottt ettt ettt ettt st s bt s et et esess s stensesens st eseneseone 54
14.2 Statement 0f POLICY .....c..cccoviriiiiiiecee ettt et st 54
14.3 Management ReSpOnSibility ........ccceeiiieiiiiiiciceectccecece ettt 54
14.4 Complaint Procedures...........cccoevivirinirieinieinieriseeere ettt 55
14.5 REMEAIES.......oiuiiiieiiiriieetctrese ettt eve et sttt et ses e et neenesnanes 55
SECTION XV - MISCELLANEQUS ...ttt ettt ettt sttt st s ee 55
15.1 Designated WOTK ATCAS .......c.ccceieuerierieieieeietieteiere ettt seeseesese st st seeseeseeseeeeanas 55
15.2 PErsonal BUSINESS .......cccoivririiiirienirietinieeeeeeete e eeetes s s erere e s esestesaeneesensenesesesenesesessneas 55
I5.3 SAIRLY ...ttt ettt ettt et e e e 55
15.4 Gty PIOPEILY ....c.couiiiiiiieieisiete ettt sttt entent s e enesto e se s e e sesnesesenea 56



15.5 City VEIICIES ..ottt ettt st s as e aene e 56

15.6 Personal APPEATANCE ...........covvvvirrieieiiererieieieee e etesteeereesee e ese e ssestenseresonseseenesesseseeanas 56
15.7 Confidential Information & Unauthorized Recording..................coivvviviiinininenenne. 57
15.8 Searches & SUrVEILIANCE .........ooveivieiiiiiceece ettt 57
15.9 Workplace VIOIENCE ......cc.coiruiiiiriiirieeieieete ettt ettt nene e 57
15.10 FINal PAYCHECK .....c..cciriiiririieeteceeeee ettt ettt eeeeeanae 58
1511 UNIOITIS oottt e ettt ve s e ese st enssas st see s e st etenesanan 58
15.12 Return of Uniforms, Equipment & City PrOPEItY ...........ccoeveievievireenereeeeirereereeeeeenenens 59
15.13 Gifts, Gratuities or KiCKbacKS...........covvirineiiiiii e, 59
15.14 Normal Work HOUTS. ......coiiiiiiiiiirieec ettt st en s 59
15.15 Reduced WOrk HOULS .....coooivriiiiiieiciiceceeeeeteeteee et 59
15.16 Separation from Service wWith the City.........cccovevieieerieieiiceccceeeceec e 59
SECTION XVI: AUTHORITY ..ottt e st eaete oo sae s e s seen 60
L6.1 RUIES ...ttt ettt ettt st s oo ne e e eeeean 60
16.2 SAVINGS CLAUSE.......cceerieiiiririreintesetete ettt ese et se bt ere st sansesseseeseeneae 60
SECTION XVII: REPEAL OF FORMER PERSONNEL POLICY .....ccccoovvivivieeeieeeeeeeeeeeeen 60
EMPLOYEE ACKNOWLEDGEMENT FORM ......ccooiiniiiiieieecrececeeeteeeevese st 61

Page vi



SECTION I: DEFINITIONS

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.6

1.7

1.8

1.9

1.10

1.11

1.12

ADMINISTRATIVE LEAVE WITH PAY: Leave with pay granted at the City
Manager’s discretion after considering the department director and Human Resource
Manager’s recommendation. Bereavement Leave is Administrative Leave with pay. See
Section 10.13.

ADMINISTRATIVE LEAVE WITHOUT PAY: Leave without pay granted at the
City Manager’s discretion after considering the department director and Human Resource
Manager’s recommendation.

ANNIVERSARY DATE:  Anniversary date means the date of appointment or
reemployment and changes as of the date of promotion, demotion, reduction, or change to
a different technical occupation group, group role, or manager category in the same pay
band or pay opportunity.

ANNUAL LEAVE: Leave with pay granted to an employee, after accrual at a specific
rate, with approval of the employee’s supervisor.

APPEAL: Written request that a decision of a formal grievance be reconsidered at a
further stage in the grievance procedure.

APPLICANT: A person who made formal application on an official City
personnel application form for a position with the City.

“AT WILL” EMPLOYEE: See definition of “Unclassified Employee™.
BOARD: Board means the Board of City Commissioners.

CASUAL EMPLOYEE: An employee hired to fill a position paid by the hour that
may be called on short notice and/or on an occasional basis. Casual employee may also
work less than twenty (20) hours a week. A casual employee is paid only for hours
worked and does not receive any employment benefits. A casual employee does not have
the right to grieve employment decisions.

CLASSIFIED EMPLOYEE: An employee that serves the prescribed probationary period
and is eligible for the rights and privileges provided for under these Rules.

CONTINUOUS LENGTH OF CITY SERVICE:  Continuous length of City service
means the length of time for which there have been no breaks in employment as an
employee spanning from the employee’s Date of Hire, other than annual leave, sick
leave, military leave authorized pursuant to Section 10.24 below, or authorized leave
without pay for less than six (6) months.

CONTRACT EMPLOYEE: Contract employees are unclassified FLSA exempt and
have a contract approved by the Board modifying the conditions of the City’s personnel
policy. Contract employees serve at the will and pleasure of the Board. Contract
employees are not entitled to grievance procedures, employee benefits or holiday
premium pay.

Page 1



1.13

1.14

1.15

1.16

1.17

1.18

1.19

1.20

1.21

CITY BUSINESS: The performance of official duties of a City employee at an
employee’s normal work site or at a location authorized by the City.

CITY MANAGER: An individual appointed by the Board to conduct the business of
the City and to act as the chief executive officer for the Board, aiding and assisting the
Board in the exercise of their duties and responsibilities. In the event there is no City
Manager, the duties and responsibilities specified in these Rules shall be carried out by an
appointed Acting or Interim City Manager.

DATE OF HIRE: Date of Hire is the date indicated as such on the employee’s
Personnel Action Form indicating New Hire as a regular employee, from which there is
continuous length of City service. Alternatively, the Date of Hire may be from the date
of Reinstatement if reinstatement occurs after a lapse of continuous length of City
service.

DEMOTION: An employee may be demoted to a position for which the employee is
qualified when the employee would otherwise be terminated. The demotion may be a
result of funding shortages. An employee who does not possess the necessary ability to
render satisfactory performance in the position presently held may be demoted.
Employees may voluntarily request such a demotion. Demoted employees may receive a
reduction in pay, per City Manager approval and department head recommendation.
Only a regular employee demoted due to disciplinary action is entitled to grievance
procedures under Section VIII, Grievance Procedures.

DEPARTMENT DIRECTOR: An employee hired to fill a position with the
responsibility of supervising and administrating a department of City government as
determined and designated by the Board.

DISMISSAL: Dismissal means the involuntary separation or dismissal from employment
for disciplinary reasons.

DOMESTIC PARTNER: An individual who has an exclusive and committed
relationship with a City employee and the relationship is the same as, or similar to, a
marriage relationship in this state. For purposes of these Rules: 1) domestic partners must
have shared a common, primary residence, 2) must jointly be responsible for each other’s
common welfare and share financial obligations, 3) neither can be married or a member
of another domestic partnership, 4) both must be at least 18 years of age, and 5) are not
related by blood to a degree of closeness that would prevent them from being married to
each other in this state.

DUE PROCESS: The right granted to a regular employee to pre- and post-
disciplinary hearings for actions of suspension, demotion or dismissal.

EMERGENCY CALL-OUT PAY: Compensation paid to an employee who has been
called to return to work after hours, including weekends. Employees will receive a
minimum of two hours overtime for emergency call-outs.

Page 2



1.22

1.23

1.24

1.25

1.26

1.27

1.28

1.29

1.30

1.31

1.32

EXEMPT EMPLOYEES:  All executive, administrative and professional employees
as defined in the federal Department of Labor regulations relating to the Fair Labor
Standards Act, whose compensation is based on a fixed salary.

GRANT FUNDED EMPLOYEE: A full or part-time employee hired to fill a position
that exists only upon receipt of grant funds. This position is terminable-at-will if funding
is not received or upon expiration of a grant agreement.

GRIEVANCE HEARING: A formal hearing conducted at the request of an employee
grieving a promotion, suspension, demotion, involuntary transfer, or dismissal as set forth
in these Personnel Rules and Regulations.

GRIEVANCE: A formal complaint by an employee concerning actions taken by
management, which result in loss of pay and/or privileges to the employee including
suspension, demotion, involuntary transfer or dismissal.

HEARING OFFICER: The individual charged with the responsibility of hearing
and deciding allegations of improper promotion, or post-disciplinary action matters of
demotion, suspension, involuntary transfer, and dismissal.

IMMEDIATE FAMILY: Spouses, domestic partners, children, parents, siblings,
grandparents, grandchildren, like in-laws, like step-relationships, and persons with legal
custodial relationships.

LAYOFF: The involuntary separation of an employee from City service without fault
on the part of the employee, due to the abolition of a position, reorganization, lack of
work, lack of funds, or as otherwise determined in the best interest of the City.

MEDICAL DISABILITY DISMISSAL.: The dismissal of an employee from City
employment when the employee is unable to perform the essential functions of the
position with reasonable accommodation(s) that do not impose undue hardship upon the
City, due to a medical condition, when there is corroborating documentation of this
condition from a licensed health-care professional. Although Medical Disability
Dismissal is not disciplinary in nature, employees are nonetheless entitled to participate
in the City's pre-determination and grievance procedures if they are subject to dismissal.

NONEXEMPT EMPLOYEES: Employees that are not exempt employees as
defined in the federal Department of Labor regulations relating to the Fair Labor
Standards Act.

PART-TIME EMPLOYEE: An employee who works twenty (20) hours or more and
less than forty (40) hours per week. Employees working twenty (20) hours or more on a
consecutive basis are eligible for fringe benefits.

PRE-DISCIPLINARY HEARING: A hearing conducted by the City Manager or his/her
designee before the imposition of the disciplinary actions of suspension, demotion or
dismissal.

Page 3



1.33

1.34

1.35

1.36

1.37

1.38

1.39

1.40

1.41

PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEE: A full-time or part-time employee hired to fill a
regular position that has not completed a one (1) year probationary period of
employment, during which time the employee is terminable-at-will. During this
probationary period, the supervisor is required to evaluate the employee at least every
three (3) months.

PROMOTION: A promotion is the change of an employee from a position in one
classification usually to a position in a classification with a higher salary range.

REGULAR EMPLOYEE: Full-time: An employee who has successfully completed
probation with a work schedule of at least forty (40) hours per week. Part-time: An
employee who has successfully completed probation with a work schedule of twenty
(20) or more hours, but less than forty (40) hours per week.

RESIGNATION: Resignation means the voluntary separation of an employee from
City service.

SAFETY- or SECURITY-SENSITIVE POSITION (SSP): A position approved as such
by the department director and City Manager, which an individual has a key and direct
role in an activity where impaired performance by drug or alcohol use could result in a
serious injury, or an improper or inadequate response to a potentially serious incident.
SSP include a supervisory or managerial position in which impairment by drug or alcohol
use would constitute an immediate and direct threat to public health or safety and
includes, but is not limited to, law enforcement officers, employees who are required to
regularly carry a firearm, drivers/operators required to have a CDL license, have access
to confidential information and/or receive calls for public service and employees who
regularly transport other people as their principal job or otherwise designated so by the
City Manager.

SICK LEAVE: Leave with pay granted to employees when personal illness, injury,
pre-arranged medical or dental examination, quarantine, therapy, counseling or other
necessary treatment that keeps the employee from performing the duties of the position or
when a member of the immediate family is ill, injured or requires treatment for the
described reasons.

STAND-BY PAY: Compensation paid to employees, though off duty, is required to be
available and able to respond to inquiries by telephone or radio, after regular working
hours, including weekends.

SUSPENSION: An involuntary leave of absence, with or without pay, for
disciplinary reasons, or pending investigation of allegations made against an employee,
or for pending determination of a grievance procedure.

TEMPORARY EMPLOYEE: An employee hired to fill a position that will
temporarily fill a position that is vacant due to the absence of an employee or for some
other requirement. Temporary employment will not exceed a six (6) months. All
temporary employees are terminable-at-will, do not accrue leave, and do not receive
employee benefits.

Page 4



1.42

1.43

TRANSFER: The voluntary or involuntary movement of an employee, from one
department or office to another department or office in the City service.

UNCLASSIFIED EMPLOYEE (or At-Will Employee):  An employee that can be
dismissed at any time, with or without cause. The terminable-at-will employees in the
City shall be probationary employees, temporary employees, contract employees, and
others designated by the Commission. Terminable-at-will employees are not entitled to
the grievance procedures provided for in these Rules.

SECTION Ii: EMPLOYMENT STATUS

2.1 Position Specification: The City shall establish position specifications for all positions.
Position specifications shall include title, tasks, duties, responsibilities and minimum
qualifications. They will also specify knowledge, skills, education, and abilities required of
applicants. See Definitions for description of employee position. An employee may qualify for
one or more of the following position descriptions:

A.

Probationary Employee: A full-time or part-time employee hired to fill a regular
position that has not yet completed the one (1) year probationary period of employment,
or (twelve (12) months for police officers) during which time the employee is terminable-
at-will. During this probationary period, the supervisor is required to evaluate the
employee every three (3) months.

Temporary Employee: A temporarily employee, hired to fill a vacancy due to the
absence of an employee or for some other requirement. Temporary employment will not
exceed a six (6) month period. All temporary employees are terminable-at-will, do not
accrue leave, and do not receive employee benefits.

Regular Employee:  Full-time: An employee who has successfully completed
probation with a work schedule of at least forty (40) hours per week. Part-time: An
employee who has successfully completed probation with a work schedule of twenty
(20) hours or more, but less than forty (40) hours per week. Employees working twenty
(20) hours or more on a consecutive basis are eligible for fringe benefits.

Grant Funded Employee: A full or part-time employee hired to fill a position that
exists only upon receipt of grant funds. This position is terminable-at-will if funding is
not received or upon expiration of the grant agreement.

Casual Employee:  An employee hired to fill a position paid by the hour that may be
called on short notice and/or on an occasional basis. Casual employee may also work
less than twenty (20) hours a week. A casual employee is paid only for hours worked and
does not receive any employment benefits. A casual employee does not have the right to
grieve employment decisions.

Unclassified Employee: An employee who can be dismissed at any time, with or
without cause. The terminable-at-will employees in the City shall be probationary
employees, temporary employees, casual employees, contract employees, and others
designated by the Board. Terminable-at-will employees are not entitled to the grievance
procedures provided for in these Rules.

Classified Employee: An employee that serves the prescribed probationary period and is
eligible for the rights and privileges provided for under these Rules.

Contract Employee: Contract employees are unclassified, FLSA exempt and have a
contract approved by the Board modifying the conditions of the City’s personnel policy.

Page 5



Contract employees serve at the will and pleasure of the Board. Contract employees are
not entitled to grievance procedures or holiday premium pay.

I. Temporary Agency Employee: An individual who performs work for the City
through a contract with an independent third-party, such as a temporary placement or
employment agency. These individuals are not City employees and therefore not entitled
to any benefits or rights detailed in this policy.

SECTION IIl:  GENERAL PROVISIONS

3.1 Purpose: The purpose of these Personnel Rules and Regulations (Rules) is to establish
consistent, basic policies and practices concerning relations between the City and its employees.
These Rules further establish the formal grievance procedure available to regular employees to
hear their grievances with respect to promotions, demotions, suspensions, involuntary transfers
and dismissal, and provide the method by which a personnel hearing officer is chosen to hear
formal grievances. Independent contractors are not subject to the provisions of the Rules.

3.2 Scope:  Definite rules and regulations cannot be readily formulated for every possible
problem and situation. These Rules serve as an employment contract, general basis and guide for
the proper, efficient, and effective management and administration of City personnel matters.
The Rules contained herein replace and supersede all previously issued personnel rules
regulations and ordinances applicable to City employees.

3.3 Amendment of Rules & Regulations: There shall be no resolution or other action of the
Board or other City official, which is inconsistent with these Rules, except by amendment of
these Rules. The Board reserves the right to amend these Rules at its discretion. The City
Manager may issue interpretative memoranda or Administrative Instructions, consistent with
these Rules, which further detail the interpretation of these Rules.

3.4 Employee Knowledge & Information of Rules & Regulations: Department Directors,
or Human Resources Manager shall provide a copy of these Rules to present employees and to
all new employees with instructions to read and be familiar with all provisions of these Rules.
Employees shall sign for a copy upon receipt.

3.5 Equal Employment Opportunity Rules & Regulations: Individuals will not be
discriminated against on the grounds of race, age, religion, color, national origin, ancestry, sex,
marital status, physical or mental handicap, medical condition, sexual orientation or gender
identity, in consideration for employment, promotions, transfers, duration of employment,
compensation, terms, conditions, or privileges of employment by the City.

3.6 Administration by City Manager: The City Manager or designee shall administer and
interpret the personnel system and the terms of these Rules and its amendments, and all future
approved operating procedures. The City Manager shall recommend to the Board any necessary
amendments or revisions to the Rules.

3.7 Duties of All Employees: All employees shall adhere to the provisions of these

Rules. Department Directors, Human Resources Manager and the City Manager further shall be
responsible for seeing to the adherence and enforcement of these Rules.

Page 6



3.8 Chain of Command & Conflict Resolution: In order to maintain open communication
between the City and its employees and to ensure that employees’ general working concerns and
conflicts are addressed quickly and efficiently, the City will utilize the chain of command
protocol. Employees have the right to present or make known their complaints through the chain
of command, free from interference, restraint, discrimination, coercion, or reprisal. This
provision does not apply to serious complaints such as harassment, dangerous working
conditions, workplace violence and discrimination, which are otherwise addressed by the policy.
It is required that an employee discusses his/her concerns first with his/her immediate supervisor.
Departments should utilize dispute resolution techniques, wherever appropriate to resolve
conflicts in the workplace and encourage positive working relationships between employees and
management.

If the concern cannot be handled at this level, the employee may request a meeting with the next
level supervisor, up to the department director of his/her department. If it becomes necessary to
pursue the issue beyond the department director level, or if the concern cannot be handled or
remedied within the department due to supervisory conflict, it may be addressed with the City
Manager within ten (10) calendar days of the department’s final decision. The City Manager’s
decision on the complaint shall be final and binding.

3.9 Conflict with Collective Bargaining Agreements:  If any provision of this Resolution is
in conflict with a written Employee Agreement duly adopted by the Board pursuant to the Public
Employee Bargaining Act [NMSA 1978, §§10-7E-1 to 10-7E-26], the terms of the Collective
Bargaining Agreement shall control.

3.10 Code of Ethics:

A. City of Truth or Consequences employees and volunteers shall treat their government or
quasi-government position as a public trust, requiring adherence to and respect for the
Constitution and laws of the United States of America, the Constitution and laws of the State
of New Mexico, and the ordinances, resolutions, and policies of the City. Employees and
volunteers shall use the powers and resources of public office to advance the public interest
rather than as an opportunity to obtain personal benefits or pursue private interests
incompatible or competing with the public interest. City Government cannot function
efficiently without the confidence of the public. The public's Confidence in the
effectiveness, equity, and honesty of City Employees is directly related to the ethical
conduct of City Employees and Officials.

B. The citizens of the City of Truth or Consequences have entrusted the Elected
Officials and employees of the City with the responsibility of ensuring that tax
dollars, which fund City services, are spent wisely and efficiently. As City
employees, the public is our employer. Our work and conduct are always subject to
public scrutiny and approval. Our contact with citizens and performance results will
often be the basis upon which City government is judged.

C. Elected Officials and Employees of the City shall maintain their conduct at the highest
personal and professional standards in order to promote public confidence and trust in
the City's public institutions; and, in a manner, that merits the respect and cooperation
of fellow employees.

D. The City's level of professionalism is demonstrated by each City Official and
employee's actions or in some cases inactions; therefore, the City expects employees to
conduct themselves professionally during every interaction and every task.

Page 7



E. The City has established reasonable professionalism expectations; expectations
every employer would require of their staff. Elected officials and employees are
expected to:

e Build trust, confidence, and professional relationships with the public,
coworkers, and others contacted in performance of duties; and
e Promote the City and its employees.

Note: Talking behind an employee’s back, toxic talk, misrepresenting the truth, and
failing to provide reasonable customer service are examples of a lack of
professionalism.

F. General Conduct standards are set forth or restated as follows:

1. The City of Truth or Consequences requires all employees to familiarize themselves
with all rules and regulations (general policies and those pertaining to their duties
and positions), and that employees abide by these rules and regulations. The City’s
rules of conduct and performance standards are applicable to all City employees,
during normal working hours, at work related or City-sponsored or City-endorsed
functions, and while traveling on work related business.

2. Each employee shall make an immediate report to his or her immediate supervisor
of any violation of the law or the rules and regulations of the City of which he/she
has knowledge. Such report may be required in writing at the discretion of the
receiving supervisor and the Human Resources Manager.

3. Each employee shall make a written report within three (3) working days to the
Department Director of any criminal charge filed against him/her or arrest for any
violation of any law or ordinance except minor traffic violations. (DUI is not a
minor traffic offense.)

4. Each employee shall perform his/her duties fairly and impartially, and otherwise
conduct him/herself both on-duty and off-duty to command the respect of fellow
employees and the public. Each employee's conduct shall be at all times consistent
with the goals and mission of the City.

5. No employee shall refuse to truthfully answer questions specifically relating to the
performance of his/her official duties or refuse to participate with investigations.

6. No employee shall report for duty while under the influence of any drug prescribed
or not prescribed, including but not limited to a narcotic, barbiturate,
hallucinogenic drug, central nervous system stimulant, alcohol, or an intoxicant. In
the event any of the foregoing drugs is prescribed and administered to an employee,
the employee shall report this to the supervisor and Human Resources Manager.
The supervisor and the Human Resources Manager shall then make a determination
whether the employee can perform their duties without detrimental effect. An
employee may be asked to submit to a drug and/or alcohol test when the supervisor
has reason to suspect that the employee is under the influence of illegal drugs or
alcohol.

7. No employee shall be insubordinate, neglectful, or unwilling to follow orders or
perform officially designated duties.

8. No employee shall falsify reports or records or knowingly submit inaccurate or
untruthful information for or on any City record, report or document.

9. No employee shall sleep on duty.

Page 8



10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

Violence, fighting, profanity or insulting behavior, non-sexual harassment,
horseplay, bullying, mobbing, and threatening or interfering with visitors or other
employees at any time on City premises or at any other place, while on duty, will
not be tolerated. The City strictly prohibits sexual harassment or other forms of
discrimination.

Gambling of any kind on City premises or at any other place, while on duty will not
be tolerated.

Employees shall not reveal confidential information to unauthorized persons.
Employees shall not be tardy, absent, or depart from work early without the
permission of their supervisors and shall observe time limitations on break and meal
periods. Each employee shall notify his/her immediate supervisor or designated
representative prior to his/her scheduled work shift in the event he or she expects to
be absent from duty due to illness or other reason.

No employee shall solicit funds or distribute petitions or literature for any political
purpose other than official business on City property or at any other place while on
duty.

Every employee will comply with safety rules/regulations and shall report promptly
to the appropriate supervisor any injury or illness.

Employees shall not use City property, materials or facilities for non-City business.
No employee shall occupy, use or operate any City property or facility without prior
authorization.

Every employee has the responsibility to protect and safeguard City property and
the person and property of others. No employee shall be in unauthorized possession
of any City property or others regardless of value, or attempt to remove such
property from City premises.

. The ethical City employee shall:

NEWND -

=N o

10.

11.

Properly administer the affairs of the City.

Promote decisions, which only benefit the public interest.

Actively promote public confidence in City government.

Keep safe all funds and other properties of the City.

Conduct and perform the duties of the office diligently and promptly dispose of the
business of the City.

Maintain a positive image to pass constant public scrutiny.

Evaluate all decisions so that the best service or product is obtained at a minimal cost
without sacrificing quality and fiscal responsibility.

Inject the prestige of the office into everyday dealings with the public, employees and
associates.

Maintain a respectful attitude toward employees, other public officials, colleagues
and associates.

Effectively and efficiently, work with governmental agencies, political subdivisions
and other organizations in order to further the interest of the City.

Faithfully comply with all laws and regulations applicable to the City and impartially
apply them to everyone.

Page 9



SECTIONIV: RECRUITMENT AND SELECTION

4.1 Purpose: It is the policy of the City to select and recruit the best qualified and the best-
suited person for all positions in an open and competitive manner, and to ensure that no
discrimination occurs in the process and ensure equal employment opportunities for all
applicants and employees. The City will comply with all applicable federal and state laws and
regulations.

4.2 Recruitment of Applicants: Department directors shall notify the City Manager and the
Human Resources Manager of a vacant position. In an effort to present current employees a
viable career path within the organization, internal employees are encouraged to apply for vacant
or newly created positions, if they meet minimum qualifications. The Human Resources
Manager shall simultaneously issue job announcements internally and externally through such
media deemed appropriate to ensure open and competitive recruitment of individuals with
sufficient time to ensure reasonable opportunity for persons to apply. The Human Resources
Manager shall submit announcements and receive all applications through their Office. All
publications for job announcements shall include reference to the City as “An Equal Opportunity
Employer”.

4.3 Temporarily Filling Vacant Positions: Vacant positions may be filled without public
announcement by temporary employees on a temporary basis to replace regular employees on
leave and pending the selection of a regular employee for a position or otherwise for a period not
to exceed six months. Temporary employees may not be made regular employees in their
position without completion of an open application and selection process.

4.4 Best Qualified & Best-Suited Applicant Determination: The best-qualified and best-
suited applicant is determined by the department director, in conjunction with the Human
Resources Manager, based on minimum qualifications of education, experience, abilities, skills
and past work experience, as specified in written position specifications for each position.
Personal interviews shall be conducted with at least three (3) applicants, or if less than three
applications are received, all applicants shall be interviewed. All internal applicants meeting
minimum job requirements for a position shall receive an interview.

4.5 Selection: The department director or designated representative shall review all applications
for positions in their department, in conjunction with the Human Resources Manager, and make
their recommendation to the City Manager. Final appointment shall be made by the City
Manager based on the best qualified and the best-suited applicant for the position and the status
of the City’s budget. The Human Resources Manager is responsible for notifying the
prospective employee and extending job offers.

4.6 Pre-Selection Prohibited: To ensure the integrity and fairness of the selection process,
posted and advertised positions shall not be promised to any person prior to recruitment and
selection.

4.7 Ineligibility for Hire and Rehire: Applicants shall be considered ineligible for hire or
rehire by the City if the applicant has:

A. Knowingly made any false statement or omission on the employment application or City
record;

Page 10



B. Not met the requirements of the position;

C. Failed to complete pre-employment drug and alcohol screening or physical examinations
or other requirements as directed by the City, except that an applicant not meeting drug
and alcohol screening testing may reapply after a one-year period. An applicant who
failed a physical exam due to a pre-existing correctable medical condition may reapply at
any time after the condition is corrected;

. Not met the criteria for insurance or bonding as required by City or state law;

Been dismissed from City service as a disciplinary measure in five (5) years prior to the
date of application;

F. Not been certified by a physician that the applicant can perform the physical

requirements or the essential requirements of the position;

G. Been convicted for driving while under the influence of alcohol or drugs within the past
three years of the date of the application, if a valid New Mexico driver’s license and class
is required for the position; or

H. Been convicted of a felony as described in NMSA 1978, §28-2-1, et seq. or convicted of
a felony or infamous crime as defined in NMSA 1978, §10-1-3 and by its nature conflicts
with the duties and responsibilities of the position;

I. Not met the requirements of state or federal funding agreements;

Resigned with pending employment charges pursuant to section 7 and 8 within five (5)
years prior to the date of application;

K. Resigned from City employment without giving two weeks’ notice, unless unique
circumstances exist;

L. Previously engaged in destruction of City property, including deleting public (business
related) records or emails; and

M. The above list is not necessarily exhaustive and may not include all of the reasons that
would make an applicant ineligible for hire or rehire.

o

4.8 Testing: To determine employment eligibility, the City may require an applicant to submit
to testing for certain bona fide occupational qualifications. This may include, without limitation
pre-employment physical, drug, and alcohol screening examinations, and/or proficiency, skills or
general aptitude testing. For law enforcement officers, psychological examinations and/or
extensive medical examinations may be required as a condition of employment.

4.9 Background Investigation; Driver’s License (DL) Check: The City and/or
designed contractor(s) shall conduct background investigations on all applicants considered for
employment and DL record checks on all perspective and current employees required to drive a
vehicle for City business. All applicants shall sign a background investigation wavier and DL
check release during the employment application phase or they will be excluded from
consideration. DL checks shall be conducted at hiring, and quarterly thereafter, on employees
required to drive, as a condition of employment. DL checks will not be conducted on
perspective or current employees not having driving responsibilities as a condition of
employment. However, if at any time an employee is required to drive a vehicle as a condition
of employment, DL checks will be performed at that time and continue on a quarterly basis.

4.10 Commencement of Work: No applicant for employment shall commence work or be
considered employed by the City until an approval of the selection is made in writing by the City
Manager and Human Resources Manager on a Personnel Action Form (PAF) and all pre-
employment testing and relevant background checks have been completed. Payroll shall not
enter the applicant into the City’s system prior to receipt of a completed and signed PAF.

Page 11



SECTION V: CHANGES IN EMPLOYMENT STATUS

5.1 Promotion: The City encourages professional growth of its employees and rewards the
initiative, creativity, effort, commitment, and diligence of its employees through the promotional
process. City employees are encouraged to take advantage of promotional opportunities and
apply for higher paying positions for which they qualify.

5.2 Evaluation Period: Regular employees either promoted or voluntarily transferred to a
vacant or newly created position will be placed in an evaluation status period for ninety (90)
days. This is a period of evaluation and training of the employee in the new position. If
performance during the evaluation period is deemed unsatisfactory and documented, the
employee may be returned to his/her previous position, if available, placed in another vacant
position for which the employee is qualified, if available and in the best interest of the City, or
dismissed at the discretion of the City Manager. Employees transferred back to previous
positions receive the same pay received before their promotion or transfer.

5.3 Demotion: An employee may be demoted to a position for which the employee is
qualified when: 1) the employee would otherwise be dismissed because the employee’s position
is being abolished due to lack of funds or lack of work and there are no vacancies at the same
level for which the employee is qualified; 2) the employee’s job is being reclassified; 3) the
employee does not present satisfactory performance in the position presently held; 4) the
employee voluntarily requests such a demotion, provided a position is available; or 5) employees
being demoted for disciplinary reasons.

5.4 Transfers:

A. General Transfer. Employees may be moved from one position to another of the same
grade and pay range either voluntarily or involuntarily. An employee may be transferred
if it is in the best interest of the City. Voluntary transfers are not grievable. Fluctuating
organizational needs may require temporary or permanent transfer of an employee from
one geographic location to another within the City. If a transfer involves a probationary
employee, time served in the former position shall be credited toward achievement of
regular full-time status and salary increases, accumulated annual leave and sick leave
shall be retained. The City Manager must approve all transfers.

B. Voluntary Transfers between Departments. An employee who voluntarily transfers from
one department to a vacant position in another department may be required to accept the
new position at its entry-level salary depending on their experience and qualifications
required for the new position. The transferred employee will be subject to an evaluation
period of ninety (90) days, as specified in Section 5.2.

C. Medical Transfer. An employee who has been certified by a licensed physician as being
physically unable to perform the duties of the employee’s current position may be
transferred as a reasonable accommodation to an available position in which the
physician certifies the employee is able to work, and for which the employee is qualified
to perform. If no such position is available, the employee is subject to the leave without
pay provisions of these Rules.

5.5 Resignation: An employee voluntarily resigning shall submit in writing to the
department director and the Human Resources Manager, a two-week minimum notice of
resignation.  Unless unique circumstances exist, failure to provide timely written notice may be

Page 12



grounds for refusal of future employment with the City. Unauthorized absence from work for
three (3) consecutive regularly scheduled working days shall be considered a voluntary
resignation. Once a Department Director accepts an employee’s resignation, the notice of
resignation is deemed “accepted”, the employee may no longer rescind the resignation unless
approved by the City Manager.

5.6  Layoff Procedure: Upon directive of the Board, the City Manager shall make the
determination for layoffs after consulting with appropriate department directors and the Human
Resource Manager. When layoffs of more than one employee are required, layoffs shall be
determined using the following criteria:

A. Position in order of priority:

1. Temporary employees,
2. Probationary employees,
3. Casual employees,
4. Part-time employees.

B. Performance of the employee compared to other employees being laid off in the same or
similar positions;

C. Value of the employee’s position to the critical operation of the City or department, such
as safety-sensitive or enterprise positions;

D. Length of continuous service with the City; and

E. Funding source.

5.7 Layoff Return Privileges: Any full-time or part-time regular employee laid off and

returns within six (6) months of layoff shall not have to serve a probationary period if the
employee returns to their previous position and the probationary period had been served. A laid
off-returning employee will be credited for all unused sick leave remaining and not compensated
for at the time of layoff, if the employee returns within the six (6) month period. Layoff
privileges end:

A. Six (6) months after the effective layoff date;

B. After an employee refused employment in a position for which the employee is qualified
and/or for which the pay rate is the same or higher than the position previously held; or

C. When a laid off employee accepts another position with the City. A laid off employee
accepting another position with the City shall serve the required evaluation period.

5.8 Medical Disability Dismissal: Employees shall be involuntarily terminated upon
completion of the twelve (12) week family/medical leave if the employee is physically unable to
perform the essential duties of the employee’s position with reasonable accommodation(s) that
do not impose undue hardship upon the City, as certified by a qualified, licensed physician. The
provisions of this subsection are subject to the provisions regarding Workers’ Compensation
laws and “On the Job Injury Leave” found in Sections 10.14 and 10.15 of these Rules.

5.9 Reinstatement: Individuals that are reinstated, as regular employees to the same or like
position are not entitled to any previous benefits such as sick leave, which had been accrued
during previous employment with the City, except as, provided in Section 5.7.

Page 13



SECTION VI: CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT

6.1 Probationary Period for New Hires: An employee hired to fill a position shall serve a
probationary period of one (1) year, beginning on the first day of work, during which time the
employee is terminable-at-will.

A.

Law enforcement officers in the police Department shall serve a one (1) year
probationary period, beginning on the first day of work, during which time the employees
are terminable-at-will. If a law enforcement officer is not certified prior to hiring, the law
enforcement officer must obtain law enforcement certification within one year of
employment. Uncertified law enforcement officers shall be terminated on the one-year
anniversary of hire if they are not accepted or enrolled in a basic police officer training
program certified by the Law Enforcement Academy Board.

The probationary period is an integral part of the evaluation process and is for observing
the employee’s performance and obtaining the most effective adjustment of a new
employee to the position. Employees will be evaluated at least every 3 months during the
probationary period. The employee must achieve a satisfactory performance or better by
the end of the probationary period before the employee can become a regular employee
entitled to all of the rights and benefits of that status.

If an employee satisfactorily completes the probationary period, the employee will
become a regular employee. If the employee does not satisfactorily complete the
probationary period, the employee may be dismissed, or upon the recommendation of the
department director and with final approval of the City Manager, the probationary period
may be extended for ninety (90) days.

In the event a probationary employee is on extended leave for any reason, the
probationary period will be extended in an amount equal to that leave period.
Probationary employee provisions. A probationary employee:

can be dismissed, without cause, at any point during the probationary period;

is not eligible for personal holiday leave;

cannot grieve disciplinary actions;

is allowed to accrue and use sick and annual leave as soon as it is accrued with

approval of supervisor;

5. employees terminated during their probationary period are only entitled to payment of
unused annual leave; and

6. is eligible for health insurance and other optional benefits, as provided in Section 9.7.

N =

6.2 Temporary Employee Hired to a Regular Position: An employee who fills a temporary
position and is subsequently hired to fill a regular position shall serve the required probationary
period. The beginning date of the probationary period is the date the employee formally
transitions to regular status.

6.3 Former City Employees Hired to a Position: A former City employee re-hired in the
same or like position, or re-hired at any time to fill a new position, shall serve the required
probationary period.

6.4 Permitted Political Activities: All employees:

A.

may engage in political activity on their own time;

Page 14



e

moy 0w

are encouraged to register to vote and to exercise their right to vote;

have a right to express their opinion on all political subjects and candidates on their own
time;

may serve as convention delegates;

may sign nominating petitions and make voluntary contributions to political
organizations and candidates on their own time; and

may serve as an election or poll official.

6.5 Prohibited Political Activities: All employees are prohibited from:

A.

B.

m o

using official authority or influence for the purpose of interfering with or affecting the
result of an election or a nomination for office, or for any other political purpose;

directly or indirectly coercing, attempting to coerce, commanding or advising an official
or employee to pay, lend, or contribute anything of value to a party, committee or
organization, agency, or person for a political purpose;

threatening to deny promotions to or retaliating against an employee who does not vote
for or support certain candidate(s), requiring employees to contribute to a political fund
or candidate, influencing employees to buy tickets to political fund-raisers and similar
events, advising employees to take part in political activity and matters of a similar
nature;

engaging in political activity while on duty; and

using any City-owned equipment, supplies, vehicles, space, property, or work time for
political purposes.

6.6 Public/Political Office:

A.

Employees covered by the provisions of the Hatch Act [5 U.S.C. Sections 1501 to 1508]
may not be candidates for partisan political office elections. (A local school board
member or a member of any post-secondary educational institution’s governing body
shall not be construed as holding political office)

Employees may not hold a City political office and be a regular full-time or at-will
employee of the City.

6.7 Nepotism: To eliminate the appearance of nepotism, relatives within the third
degree shall not work in the same department when there is a supervisory relationship
between them.

A. Relative, as used in this ordinance, includes father/mother and spouse, son/daughter

and spouse, grandparents, grandchildren and spouse, uncle/aunt and spouse,
nephew/niece and spouse, brother/sister and spouse, great grandparents, and great
grandchild ; including unrelated persons sharing a spousal/domestic partner
relationship, adopted step-relatives.

When there is a change in assignment or relationship among City employees, which
leads to supervision of or by a relative, the relative supervisor must immediately
inform the department director of the relationship in writing. The department
director, subject to the approval of the City Manager, shall take appropriate action to
eliminate the conflict. Options include eliminating supervisory responsibility for a
specific employee, voluntarily/involuntary transfer of the employee or supervisor to

Page 15



another position, demotion of the supervisor, or termination of the employee or
supervisor, whichever if most feasible for the employee, supervisor and City.

6.8 Conflict Ban: No employee shall engage in any business, transaction, accept private
employment or other public employment which is incompatible with the proper discharge of the
employee’s responsibilities or which gives the appearance of impropriety, or is prohibited by
federal, state or City law or City policy.

6.9 Outside Employment: Employees may not, directly or indirectly, engage in any outside
employment or financial interest which may conflict, in the City’s opinion, with the best interests
of the City or interfere with the employee’s ability to perform his/her assigned City job.
Examples include, but are not limited to outside employment which:

A. Prevents the employee from being available for work beyond normal working hours, such
as emergencies or peak work periods, when such availability is a regular part of the
employee’s job;

Is conducted during the employee’s work hours;

Utilizes City facilities, equipment, resources or time;

Constitutes employment, contractual commitment or self-employment which conflicts
with Section 15.14, below; or

May be reasonably perceived as a conflict of interest, gives the appearance of impropriety
or otherwise discredits public service.

caow

52

An employee who chooses to have an additional job, contractual commitment or self-
employment, may do so provided he/she provides prior notification on the prescribed form and
obtains prior approval from his/her department director and the City Manager. Any outside
employment that could potentially interfere with emergency call-out situations must be reported
to the employee’s department director. If, after accepting outside employment, situations arise
which could interfere with the employee’s job, the employee must immediately report these
situations to his’her department director.

6.10 Workplace & Sexual Harassment: The City will not tolerate harassment or sexual
harassment.

A. The City is committed to taking reasonable steps to provide a professional working
environment free from all forms of harassment, whether based on sex, sexual orientation,
gender identity, race, color, religion, national origin, age, disability or any other protected
classification. Although this policy focuses on sexual harassment, it applies equally to all
forms of harassment based on a protected classification. The procedures described in this
policy shall be followed for all such harassment. This policy also applies when an
employee is subject to harassment in the workplace by a non-City employee.

B. Employees have a right to be free from workplace harassment. Employees are forbidden
from engaging in harassing conduct on- or off- duty that creates a hostile work
environment. Any act of harassment based upon a protected classification is a severe
violation of City policy and will be addressed in a firm manner.

C. Harassment Definition: verbal, non-verbal or physical conduct by any employee that,
bullies, torments, persecutes, disrupts, or interferes with another employee’s work
performance or member of the public or that creates an intimidating, offensive or hostile
environment.

Page 16



D. Sexual Harassment Definition: is any unwelcome sexually oriented behavior, demand,
comment or physical contact initiated by any individual at the work place when:

1. Submission to such conduct is made either explicitly or implicitly, a term or condition
of an individual’s employment;

2. Submission to, or rejection of, such conduct by an individual is used as the basis for
employment decisions/opportunities affecting such individual; or

3. Such conduct has the purpose or effect of substantially interfering with an
individual’s work performance, or creates an intimidating, hostile or offensive
working environment.

E. Harassment can occur in a variety of forms. Examples include, but are not limited to:
Teasing an employee(s) about their race, religion, sexual orientation etc. Telling a joke at
the expense of or with the intent of embarrassing a protected class.

Sexual harassment also occurs in a variety of forms. Harassing conduct based on gender
often is sexual in nature. This policy forbids harassment based on gender regardless of
whether the offensive conduct is sexual in nature. Sexual harassment is unacceptable in
the workplace or in other work-related settings such as business trips and business-related
events. The following are some common examples of behaviors or situations that
constitute sexual harassment:

Oral or written sexual statements, comments, jokes, questions or innuendoes;

Display of sexually oriented visual items such as calendars, cartoons, photos or

posters;

3. Assault, molestation or unwelcome physical contact such as kissing, touching,
patting, pinching, brushing against or hugging;

4. Requests, demands or subtle pressure for sexual activity;

5. Threats or retaliation against an employee who refuses unwelcome sexual attention or
sexual behavior;

6. Overt promises or practices that imply preferential treatment for any employee in
exchange for dates, sexual attention or sexual behavior;

7. Sexual insults and suggestions including, but not limited to, lewd remarks, obscene
gestures and sexually suggestive materials;

8. Any conduct that ridicules, or is malicious or abusive to, an individual because of the
individual’s gender;

. Pressuring an employee to go out on a date;

10. Consensual "romantic" or sexual relationships between a supervisor/director and an
employee in the same department; or

11. Asking questions of a sexual nature.

N =

F. Responsibility to Report Harassment. Any employee, who believes they are a victim of
harassment because of their protected classification, should first confront the person or
persons responsible for the offensive behavior and indicate that it is unwelcome and
should be stopped. The employee also has an obligation to promptly report the matter to
the Human Resources Manager, City Attorney or City Manager. These individuals are
authorized by this policy to receive and act upon complaints of harassment or
discrimination on behalf of the City. All employees who observe, or become aware of
harassment, also have an obligation to bring the matter to the attention of the Human

Page 17



Resources Manager, City Attorney or City Manager, even if they are not the victim of
harassment.

G. Investigation of Complaints. It is the City’s intent to provide a fair process for
investigating and resolving complaints of harassment. The City will investigate all reports
of alleged harassment. Information associated with the investigation will be kept
confidential, to the extent possible, and consistent with the City’s obligation to
investigate promptly and thoroughly. All employees are required to cooperate with any
investigation by the City in response to an allegation of harassment. Refusal to cooperate
in an investigation may result in disciplinary action, up to and including termination.

H. Appeal. Any affected employee dissatisfied with the conclusion or results of an
investigation, or with any corrective measures taken, may appeal the decision to the City
Manager. Any such appeal should be in writing and must include the nature of the
employee’s dissatisfaction with the conclusions or results of the investigation. Any
qualifying disciplinary appeal must follow the grievance process.

. Protection against Retaliation. The City will not retaliate against any employee who
reports sexual harassment in good faith and such retaliation in and of itself is grounds for
disciplinary action, up to and including termination without prior progressive discipline.
Retaliation is a serious violation of this policy and should be immediately reported.

J. Discipline. Anyone violating section 6.10 will be subject to corrective or disciplinary
action up to, and including dismissal.

K. Unlawful harassment, including sexual harassment, of employees, or members of the
public, may be cause for dismissal. If the City determines that harassment has occurred
or that counseling, training, disciplinary measures or termination are appropriate, it will
respond appropriately to correct the problem following City disciplinary procedures.
Serious cases of harassment constitute cause for termination without prior progressive
discipline. Employees who knowingly make false allegations of sexual harassment may
be subject to disciplinary action.

L. Mandatory Training. Periodic mandatory training for all employees will be provided by
the City to increase knowledge of the workplace harassment policy, state and federal laws
and the process for enforcing the policy.

M. Vendors and Customers: Employees should report harassment, including sexual
harassment from vendors, customers, other City employees and the general public
utilizing this Policy.

6.11 Performance Evaluations and Performance Goals:
A. Performance Evaluations (Probationary Employees only)

1. Probationary employees shall be evaluated at least every three (3) months or when a
department director or immediate supervisor wishes to make the performance of an
employee a matter of record.

2. Contents of Evaluation: A performance evaluation shall contain an overall appraisal
of the employee’s performance while on probation. Approved forms are available in
Human Resources. All evaluations shall be signed by the employee and supervisor,
and forwarded to the City Manager.

3. Unsatisfactory Evaluation: The probationary period is a time to grow and
develop new employees and ensure a proper fit for the organization; however, if an
employee receives an overall evaluation rating of unsatisfactory performance, the
employee shall be warned that the failure to meet reasonable performance standards

Page 18



within a set period shall result in dismissal. In some circumstances of unsatisfactory
performance or unacceptable behavior, a probationary employee may not be given a
warning and will be terminated as terminable-at-will.

C. Performance Goals (Non-Probationary Employees)

1.

Supervisors will develop SMART goals (Specific, Measurable, Achievable, Relevant,
and Time-based) annually for each employee, other than probationary employees who
shall follow the traditional performance evaluation process. SMART goal setting is
important for employee motivation, keeps employees looking forward to new
accomplishments, intended to grow employee knowledge and skill sets, designed to
meet organizational strategic outcomes, and enhances organizational effectiveness.

Supervisors are expected to supervise and manage staff on a daily basis, and thus,
provide either positive reinforcement or constructive corrective feedback as
appropriate; performance evaluations and goal setting should not be mistaken for
daily supervisory responsibilities.

Goal types include:

a. Essence of job (EOJ): EOJ goals clearly describe tasks required for the job. Goals
can include productivity, efficiency, detail, accuracy, safety, ability to problem-
solve or work as a team player, professionalism, customer service, etc. EOJ goals
can relate to the speed of work or number of units completed, and product
accuracy and quality, etc.

b. Specific project(s):  Projects are activities that an employee will pursue with a
beginning and ending, and are generally beyond the employee’s routine duties.
Project goals can relate to improving systems, developing new policy or
procedures, developing programs, completing purposed research, etc.

c. Professional development:  These goals specify what an employee will learn in
the coming year. These goals grow an employee by developing new skills or
knowledge. Goals shall be linked to a realistic organizational need.

d. Performance improvement: These goals are used when an employee’s behavior
is unsatisfactory or their performance is below reasonable expectations.
Performance improvement goals should have a limited but reasonable end
timeline. They shall document reasonable behavior or performance expectations
in a clear and measurable way.

Goal Setting: Supervisors, in collaboration with the employee, shall develop
SMART goals for each employee annually. Align goals with the department’s
overall strategies, priorities and most important needs.

Goal Tracking:  Supervisors shall review goal progress with each employee at least
quarterly. A supervisor may amend a goal, either increasing or decreasing
responsibilities, if circumstances change during the period.

Employee Rebuttal: The employee may submit a written rebuttal statement to
the performance goal evaluation and it will become a part of the performance goal
report. The rebuttal must be submitted within ten (10) days of the evaluation or it
will be denied.

Page 19



6. Unsatisfactory Goal Evaluation: In the event an employee fails to meet established
goal(s), when in the judgment of the supervisor, should have, the employee shall be
warned that failure to meet reasonable expectations could result in disciplinary action
and/or may be placed on a performance improvement plan.

6.12  Fitness for Duty:

The City endeavors to provide a safe and productive work environment for the benefit of its
employees and the public they serve. Employees are expected to manage their health in
such a way that they can safely and effectively perform their essential job functions and to
discuss with their supervisor any circumstance that my impact their ability to do so. The
City may require professional evaluation of an employee’s physical or mental capabilities to
determine his or her ability to perform essential job functions. Such evaluations are
conducted by an independent third party, licensed health/mental health care professional and
are undertaken only after careful review by Human Resources. To the extent possible, the
City will protect the confidentiality of the evaluation and results.

This evaluation process is for only those situations where reliable observation indicates that
the employee may not be physically or mentally able to perform the essential functions of
his or her position due to a physical or mental condition. It is not intended to be a substitute
for sick or medical leave requests, workers’ compensation claims, allegations of violence in
the workplace, situations where there is an immediate threat of harm, or a performance
management disciplinary process.

A. Procedures: If, by observation of an employee’s behavior or by receipt of reliable
information, the City has reason to believe that an employee may lack the ability to
perform the essential functions of his or her position due to a physical or mental
condition, the following steps will be taken:

1. The department head will provide Human Resources with detailed information
regarding the reason for and circumstances leading up to the fitness-for-duty referral,
including information on essential job functions, evidence of the employee’s inability
to perform those functions effectively, and any attempts at resolving the matter.

2. The Human Resourced Manager will review the information provided in the referral,
along with a current job description of the essential functions of the employee’s
position. If it is determined that a fitness-for-duty evaluation is necessary, upon
confirmation from the City Manager, the Human Resources Manager, will notify the
employee in writing.

3. Human Recourses will determine the independent, third party, licensed health/mental
health professional who will perform the evaluation, send a written request for an
evaluation to him or her, and will schedule the evaluation at the earliest opportunity.

4. Failure on the employee’s part to comply with a scheduled fitness-for-duty evaluation
constitutes insubordination and will be cause for disciplinary action, including
termination.

5. The City will pay all costs of the services performed by the health/mental health
professional as part of the evaluation.

6. If the City Manager deems it necessary, the employee may be placed on temporary,
paid administration leave until the evaluation is completed.

Page 20



7. The employee will be requested to sign a voluntary written authorization allowing the
health/mental health professional to provide certain information obtained through the
evaluation to the City. If no authorization is executed, the City may nevertheless
obtain a description of the functional limitations of the employee that may limit the
employee’s ability to perform the essential function of his or her job, but no statement
of medical cause may be disclosed.

8. Insofar as feasible, the results of the evaluation will be treated as confidential, kept in
a separate file within Human Recourses, and the minimum necessary information will
be shared only with those who need to know the results for legitimate City business
purposes.

9. If it is determined that the employee is not able to perform the essential functions of
his or her position, Human Resources will attempt to determine if there is a
reasonable accommodation that will allow the employee to continue working. If an
appropriate accommodation cannot be made, other options will be identified and
communicated to the employee as available.

10. If it appears that any functional limitations on the employee’s ability to perform the
essential functions of his or her position are the result of a work-related injury, the
matter will be referred to Workers Compensation for the procession of a workers’
compensation claim.

11. All actions taken to carry out this policy will comply with state and federal laws, as
well as City policies and procedures and applicable contractual provisions.

. Evaluation and Results: The fitness-for-duty evaluation will not be conducted for
the purpose of diagnosis or treatment, but rather for the purposes of determining an
employee’s ability to perform the essential functions of the job. Human Resources will
provide the evaluator with a description of the essential function of the employee’s
position prior to the evaluation. The evaluator will be asked by Human Resources to
release only that information as permitted under this policy or otherwise permitted by
law. The evaluator will be asked to complete a written report containing only the
following information.

1. A conclusion regarding the determination of fitness for duty;

A description of the nature and extent of any functional limitation on the employee’s

ability to perform his or her job;

A description of the expected duration of each such functional limitation; and

4. An opinion as to whether or not the functional limitation may be the result of a work-
related injury as related by the employee; further medical examination or
investigation may be necessary to determine if the functional limitation arises out of,
or has been caused by, the employee’s occupation.

(98]

. Insofar as feasible, the results of the evaluation will be treated as confidential, and will be
shared only with those who need to know the results for legitimate City business
purposes. However, where the employee has placed at issue his or her medical history,
mental or physical condition, or treatment, the relevant information may be used and
disclosed by the City in connection with such proceedings.

. The City Manager will make a decision regarding the employee’s status, including but
not limited to the employee’s return to duty or removal of the employee from any duties
pending treatment and re-evaluation, depending on the results of the evaluation and the

Page 21



6.13

recommendation of the evaluator. In certain circumstances, the employee may be subject
to medical disability termination pursuant to Section 5.8 of this Ordinance.

Anti-Fraternization:

The City encourages employees to develop friendships and share a spirit of teamwork
and camaraderie both in the workplace and outside of work. In instituting this dating or
fraternization policy, it is not the City's goal to interfere with the development of co-
worker friendships and relationships.

City employees may date; develop friendships and relationships both inside and outside
of the workplace as long as the relationships do not negatively affect work. Any
relationship that interferes with the City's culture of teamwork, the harmonious work
environment or the productivity of employees will be addressed by applying the
progressive discipline policy as outlined in this Ordinance. Adverse workplace behavior
or behavior that affects the workplace that arises because of personal relationships will
not be tolerated.

The exception to this policy relates to Managers, directors and supervisors. Anyone
employed in a managerial or supervisory role shall not have an intimate relationship
with employees who report to them. From an employee perspective, these
relationships may be perceived as favoritism, misuse of authority, or potentially,
sexual harassment. Even if no improper conduct occurs, the relationship would likely
cause gossip, hard feelings, dissatisfaction, and distraction among other employees in
the workplace. The relationship may appear to other employees as an inappropriate
use of position power. The fraternization prohibited by this policy includes dating,
romantic involvement, and sexual relations.

Notify your supervisor and the Human Resources Manager if a coworker relationship is
a concern and might be from the City's standpoint of job performance and workplace
disruption. Appropriate actions will be determined and taken as per the City's personnel
policy. In the discretion of the City Manager, the parties to a relationship that become a
concern can be required NOT to work together; and, must keep the City informed on the
relationship. Any disruption in the workplace is subject to discipline or adjustment in
shift status if available.

Sexual misconduct refers to a wide range of inappropriate behaviors associated with the
exercise of “power” or “authority” over certain people in the work environment.
Therefore, some work relationships are prohibited by State statute. Law enforcement,
probation personnel, and counselors are legally prohibited from engaging in
relationships with offenders, inmates or clients, as these employees have a position of
authority over these individuals. In these relationships, either the Legislature or courts
have determined that these individuals are not capable of “consenting” to sex with staff,
just as individuals with diminished mental capacity and juveniles are deemed unable to
consent.

SECTION Vii: BASIS FOR EMPLOYEE DISCIPLINE

7.1 Discipline: Disciplinary actions are based on just cause, in order to promote the
efficiency of the services rendered by the City and the operation of its respective departments
and offices. Disciplinary actions will be consistent with governing laws and regulations and will
be taken without regard to race, age, religion, color, national origin, ancestry, sex, sexual

Page 22



orientation, gender identity, physical or mental handicap, or medical condition. No employee
will be disciplined for refusing to perform an unlawful act.

7.2 Definition of Just Cause: Just cause is defined as any conduct, action or inaction
arising from or directly connected with the employee’s work or behavior, which is inconsistent
with the employee’s obligation to the City and reflects the employee’s disregard of the City’s
interest. Just cause includes, but is not limited to, inefficiency, incompetence, misconduct,
negligence, insubordination, or performance which continues to be inadequate after reasonable
efforts have been made to correct the performance problems, or conviction of a felony or
misdemeanor involving moral turpitude and the misdemeanor conviction directly relates to the
employee's particular job, trade, or profession.

7.3 Disciplinary Action: The City Manager, department directors and supervisors have the
authority to discipline an employee under their supervision. However, only the City Manager
has the final authority to demote, suspend or terminate an employee for disciplinary reasons.
Copies of any written disciplinary action must be furnished to Human Resources for placement
in the employee’s file, with evidence of the employee’s receipt of the action.

7.4 Consultation with City Attorney: Dismissal, demotion, and suspension require
consultation with the City Attorney before taking disciplinary action. Whenever such
consultation is not practical because of urgency, necessary action may be taken and the
situations/circumstances reviewed with the City Attorney as soon as practical.

7.5 Progressive Discipline: An employee shall be progressively disciplined whenever
warranted. All actions involving substandard work performance, leading up to and including
dismissal, require documented progressive discipline. The step of corrective action used depends
on the severity of the infraction, the employee’s previous work record, years of employment, and
the employees’ status within the organization, e.g., supervisors are expected to conduct
themselves at a higher standard. Because of the serious nature of some infractions, the first
disciplinary action may be suspension or dismissal.

7.6 Verbal Reprimand: A verbal reprimand is used for minor infractions to inform the
employee that his/her actions, behavior or conduct needs to change. Supervisors will keep
written notations of verbal reprimands, and will place the written notation of the verbal
reprimand in the employee’s personnel file. The placement of a verbal reprimand in an
employee’s file is not grievable. Causes for verbal reprimands include, but are not limited to:

Substandard or unsatisfactory work performance;

Unprofessional behavior;

Malicious gossip and toxic talk;

Repeated absence or tardiness;

Misconduct on the job;

Failure to follow safety rules or procedures, including preventable accidents;

Failure to meet and/or maintain job requirements as set forth in the job description;
Violation of any personnel Rules, other City rules, policies, regulations or supplemental
rules;

Violation of a professional code of ethics accepted by those in the same profession as an
employee and as stated in this policy;

meEHUOw

|

Page 23



J. Non-cooperation by an employee with fellow employees or other personal conduct which
interferes with the performance of his/her or another employee’s work;

K. Failure to adhere to an established work schedule;

L. Excessive personal phone usage; and

M. Failure to obtain authorization for overtime or compensation time.

7.7 Written Reprimand:  An employee shall receive a written reprimand because the
deficiency or infraction is of a greater degree than that for which a verbal reprimand may be
used, or if a verbal reprimand was not effective. Causes for written reprimands include, but are
not limited to:

All causes listed for verbal reprimands;
Excessive absence or tardiness;
Sleeping on the job;
Unprofessional behavior;
Negligence in the performance of duty including negligence in the operation of City
vehicles or equipment, including preventable accidents;
Negligence or failure to adhere to established safety rules or regulations as well as willful
unsafe conduct;
Insubordination and failure to comply with the lawful orders of a supervisor including the
refusal to accept after hours assignments;
Refusal to perform tasks or duties assigned or detailed in an employee’s job description;
Unauthorized absence from work;
Failure to report duty injuries, accidents or vehicle collisions;
Failure to follow the chain of command within a department;
Unauthorized use or abuse of City property (e.g. phones, cell phones, computers,
vehicles, equipment, etc.).
. Being untruthful when asked about any work related activities by a supervisor;
Abuse of sick leave, including use of sick leave on a day for which vacation or other
leave has been denied;
Failure to follow a departmental SOP; and
Violation of the Code of Ethics (Section 3.10).

monwy

™

FRESE o

PO zZX

Written reprimands for an employee’s work performance or conduct shall be placed in the
employee’s personnel file after providing the employee with a copy of the statement. The
employee will be asked to acknowledge having read the comments by signing the statement. If
the employee refuses to sign, said refusal, that information shall be noted on the document by the
employee’s department director. The department director’s signature or employee’s signature
indicates that the employee received the statement, but does not necessarily indicate concurrence
with its content. In addition, the department director may read the letter of reprimand to the
employee. The employee may respond with a written rebuttal within ten (10) days after the
document was entered into the personnel file, which shall also be placed in the employee’s
personnel file. The placement of a written reprimand in an employee’s file is not grievable.

7.8 Suspension: An employee may be suspended without pay for a single serious offense,
for misconduct, or for continued inadequate job performance after previous attempt(s) to correct
the performance have failed. Such suspension will not exceed two-hundred forty (240) hours.
Suspension of an employee is subject to the formal grievance procedures. Causes for suspension
include but are not limited to:

Page 24



All causes listed for verbal and written reprimands;
Continuous documented instances of poor performance;
Negligent damage to property and/or person(s), including preventable accidents;
Physical or mental unfitness for duty;
Consumption or possession of alcohol or controlled substances on-duty or on City
property or in City vehicles;
Fighting while on-duty or on City property;
Harassment;
Sexual harassment;
Violation of the Code of Ethics (Section 3.10).
Failure to report confiscation or loss of driver’s license when required as condition of
employment;
Operation of a City vehicle or a private vehicle while on City business without a valid
driver’s license; and
Unlawful carrying or possession of a firearm unless authorized by state law or City
policy.
. Being under the influence of alcohol or controlled substance including illegal drugs as
well as abuse of prescription drugs. See Section 11.
N. Knowingly making any false statement or omission to a supervisor regarding work-
related activities.

MO 0w R

~rmom

=R

<

7.9 Demotion: An employee may be demoted for continued inadequate job performance
after previous attempt(s) to correct the performance deficiency have failed, if a lower job
position exists, the employee is capable of performing such a job, and it is in the best interest of
the City to demote the employee. The demotion of an eligible employee is subject to formal
grievance procedures. A demotion may require a decrease in salary, with approval of the City
Manager. Employees engaged in misconduct or ethical infractions will not be considered for
demotion.

7.10 Dismissal: Dismissal is the final consequence when progressive discipline has failed
to change unacceptable behavior or performance, or when the employee has engaged in other
behavior that is of a serious nature that is unacceptable for City employees. The dismissal of an
employee is subject to the formal grievance procedures. Causes for dismissal include, but are not
limited to:

A. All causes listed for the previous disciplinary actions or if an employee’s performance

failed to improve after attempts or correction have failed,;

Acceptance of a bribe, gratuity, gift, or kick-back;

Abuse of official position or authority for personal profit or advantage;

Theft, abuse or intentional destruction of City property, including electronic media or

data;

Unauthorized disclosure of confidential information from City records or documents, or

discussions as set forth by applicable state law; falsification, destruction or unauthorized

use of City records, reports, or other City data, including electronic media or data;

F. Being convicted of a felony or a misdemeanor involving moral turpitude and the criminal
conviction directly relates to the particular job, trade, or profession;

G. Being convicted of a felony or a misdemeanor involving moral turpitude and the criminal
conviction does not directly relate to the particular job, trade, or profession, if the City

ocow

£

Page 25



determines after investigation that the person so convicted has not been sufficiently
rehabilitated to warrant the public trust.

H. Falsification of City records, including employment application, health history forms or
any other document used in the employment process;

I. Serious acts of negligence causing damage to City property, public or private property or
injury to an employee or member of the public;

J. Intentional acts causing damage to City property, public or private property or injuring an

employee or member of the public;

Conduct unbecoming an employee of the City;

Engaging in conduct prohibited under the City’s Drug-Free Workplace Policy as
provided in Section 11.4, below;

. Insubordination or refusal to carry out reasonable directives;

Failure to meet standards of substance abuse rehabilitation programs;

Loss of license or certification necessary to legally perform the duties of the employee’s
position.

Determination of Hatch Act violation by Office of Special Counsel;

Behavior that demonstrates deliberate violations of policy, wrongful intent, evil design,
or so as to reveal intentional and substantial disregard ofthe City 's interests, or of
employee's duties and obligations to the City;

R. Willful falsification of, or misrepresentation on, any work records; falsifying data or
information requested by the City; forgery or inappropriate alteration of City records or
other City documents (including written or audio or audio-visual media); and

S. Action or inaction that subjects the City to civil liability.

oz ©r

folle

7.11 Examples Not Inclusive: The above examples are typical of the types of infractions
sometimes encountered but are not inclusive of all situations that may arise. The City reserves
the right to exercise judgment and render disciplinary action or dismissal as deemed appropriate
based on the circumstances of each case.

7.12 Pre-Determination (Loudermill) Hearing: Regular employees shall receive a pre-
determination hearing prior to possible disciplinary action for cause or other action that may
result in suspension without pay, demotion, and loss of pay, involuntary transfer, or dismissal.
Prior to delivery of the written notice to the employee, the City Human Resources Manager shall
review the cause for such action and may require the proposed level of discipline be increased or
decreased based on policy and past action. The City Manager or his/her designee shall hold the
hearing for employees of each respective department.

7.13 Written Notice: The employee’s supervisor or department director shall present the
employee with written notification of their intent to conduct a pre-determination hearing at least
five (5) working days in advance of the hearing date. The written notification shall explain the
reasons for the hearing, the proposed discipline, the employee’s right to attend the pre-
determination hearing, a list of all evidence and/or witnesses to be introduced by the Department
supporting the Department’s position, the time, place and date of the pre-determination hearing
and the employee’s right to respond to the proposed action. The time, place and date of the pre-
determination hearing can be revised upon the written agreement of the parties.

7.14 Immediate Suspension with Pay: In cases where City property, other employees or
citizens, or their property are at risk because of the employee’s actions, or when in the best
interest of the City, the City Manager or in his/her absence, an appointed designee shall put the

Page 26



employee on administrative leave with pay until the pre-determination hearing is held and a
decision is rendered. Any employee, who is placed on administrative leave pending disciplinary
action, will be required to be away from their place of employment and will not be allowed to
perform any job related duties or retain any City property during that time, but is subject to recall
by the City during normal business hours. Administrative leave pending disciplinary action shall
not exceed thirty (30) calendar days, unless the City Manager approves an extension of time. The
department director, subject to the approval of the City Manager whenever circumstances
warrant such leave, may also grant administrative leave with pay.

7.15 Pre-Determination Hearing Procedure: The City Manager or his/her designee shall
meet with the appropriate department director and the employee if he or she chooses to
participate, at the appointed time. The City Attorney may be present to assist the Hearing
Officer/City Manager but shall not advocate on behalf a City Department. Legal counsel for the
employee and the department, if any, may also be present. At this hearing, the employee will
have an opportunity to respond to the reasons for the proposed action. Witnesses are permitted as
determined relevant to the case by the City Manager or his/her designee. If an employee does
not attend the pre-determination hearing and no good cause is shown for his/her absence, the
hearing shall proceed as scheduled and a determination may be made.

7.16 Pre-Determination Hearing Decision: The City Manager or his/her designee will
issue a decision in writing within ten (10) working days of the hearing. The decision will include
the time, date and location of the meeting, persons present, and the determination. The written
decision shall either be delivered to the employee by a supervisor or department director with the
employee’s, signature of receipt of the decision) or be sent to the employee by certified mail,
return receipt requested.

7.17 Notice of Grievance:  Within five (5) working days of receipt of the written decision, the
employee must notify the Human Resources Manager or his/her designee in writing of his/her
intent to pursue a grievance hearing before a Personnel Appeals Hearing Officer.

SECTION ViII: GRIEVANCE PROCEDURES

The formal grievance procedure is applicable for promotion, suspension, demotion, involuntary
transfer or dismissal. A grievance shall not stay the implementation of the pre-determination
hearing decision.

8.1 Conditions or Actions Not Grievable: The following matters are not grievable:

A. Disputes as to whether or not an established City practice or Rules are valid;

B. Matters in which a method of review is mandated by law;

C. Matters where the City is without authority to act or does not have the ability to provide a
remedy;

D. Dismissal of temporary, casual or contract employees dismissed at any point during their

employment with the City;

Preferences for employment, promotions, voluntary transfers, temporary assignments,

and removal from temporary assignments, and layoffs;

Dismissal of a probationary employee prior to the expiration of the probationary period;

Letters of complaint when the employee’s department director determines the letters are

justified and appropriate to be placed in the employee’s personnel file, so long as the

i

o

Page 27



procedure for written reprimands are followed including the employee’s right to submit a
rebuttal;

H. Verbal and written reprimands in the employee’s file, although within ten (10) days the
employee is allowed a rebuttal of the information contained in the reprimand which will
be attached to the reprimand;

Denial of permission for outside employment;
Performance evaluations/goals;

. Suspension from employment for three days or less.

Denial of educational rewards or tuition reimbursement funding.

=

8.2 Employees Not Eligible for Grievance Procedure: Unclassified, temporary, casual,
probationary, or contract employees are not eligible to request a grievance hearing. Additionally
the City Manager is not entitled to the grievance procedure.

8.3 Grievance Procedure: A regular employee may request, in writing, a hearing before a
Personnel Hearing Officer within five (5) working days of receiving the City Manager’s decision
resulting from the pre-disciplinary process or from other action as may be grievable under this
Policy. The request will state with specificity the reason for the grievance and the remedy
requested.

8.4 Appointment of Personnel Hearing Officer: After receiving the grievant’s notification of
intent to pursue a disciplinary hearing, the City Manager will provide the grievant with the name
of the Hearing Officer.

8.5 Hearing Officer Qualifications: Hearing Officers shall be personnel professionals,
be familiar with public or private personnel systems, or have pertinent experience in the field of
management, education or law. The Hearing Officer shall be disinterested in the subject matter
of the hearing. The City Manager shall verify the qualifications of the hearing officer. The
hearing officer is not required to reside in the City.

8.6 Grievance Hearing Schedule: The City Manager or Hearing Officer will schedule a
hearing to be held as soon as practicable after receiving the notification that the employee wants
to pursue a grievance hearing. At a hearing, the grievant and City shall have an opportunity to
present witnesses and physical evidence and cross-examine the witnesses before a neutral
hearing officer. The City shall be represented by its attorney and the grievant may have an
attorney or representative of their choice.

8.7 Grievance Hearing Procedures - Rules of Procedure:

A. The hearing will not be open to the public, unless the grievant requests a public hearing.
B. The formal Rules of Evidence shall not apply to the hearing.
C. The hearing officer shall:

1. make rulings on procedural and substantial issues of the hearing;

2. determine the admissibility of evidence and testimony, all of which must have a direct
bearing on the issue before the hearing officer; and

3. issue a written ruling, including findings of fact, which form the basis of the hearing
officer’s conclusions of law.

Page 28



D. The grievant, the grievant’s legal representative, if any, and the City Attorney are
required to be present at the hearing unless otherwise excused by the hearing officer or by
agreement of the parties.

E. The hearing officer shall determine reasonable timelines that the parties or their
representatives shall prepare and provide copies of all exhibits and evidence, confidential
statements identifying the issues to be heard, a witness list, and a complete list of
documents to be admitted as evidence for the hearing officer as well as the opposing
party. The hearing officer shall exclude from consideration exhibits and evidence,
statements, witness lists, and other documents if not supplied in the manner detailed
above.

F. Each party will be responsible for ensuring that their witnesses are present for the
hearing.

G. Witnesses in grievance hearings are not permitted in the hearing room until called upon
to testify, unless the witness is a party (i.e., the grievant, the grievant’ s department
director and/or supervisor, the City Manager, Human Resources Manager, or City
Attorney).

H. An audio, audio-video record or transcript of all grievance hearings will be made.

8.8 Conduct of Hearing:  The Grievant shall present an opening statement of issues involved
in the case, followed by the City. Opening statements are limited to the pertinent issues of fact
and law and shall not exceed ten minutes without the permission of the hearing officer.

8.9 Order of Presentation:

A. The City will present first. Witnesses for the City may be called and questioned
concerning their involvement in or knowledge of the case. Following each witness’s
testimony, the Grievant will have the opportunity to cross-examine the witness. The

+ hearing officer will then have an opportunity to question the witness. The hearing officer
shall restrict all questions to those necessary to clarify the testimony previously given.
Follow up or redirect questioning will be allowed at the discretion of the hearing officer.

B. Witnesses for the Grievant may be called and questioned concerning their involvement in
or knowledge of the case. Following each witness’s testimony, the City will have the
opportunity to cross-examine the witness. The hearing officer will then have an
opportunity to question the witness. The hearing officer shall restrict all questions to
those necessary to clarify the testimony previously given. Follow up or redirect
questioning will be allowed at the discretion of the hearing officer.

C. Following the presentation of the City’s and the Grievant’s positions, rebuttals may be
offered. Such testimony shall be brief and shall address only the issues brought forth in
the City or Grievant’s presentation.

D. The City’s closing statement shall be presented followed by the Grievant’s closing
statement. These statements shall not exceed ten (10) minutes without the permission of
the hearing officer and shall contain a request for the desired outcome.

8.10 Communication of Hearing Officer’s Decision: The hearing officer’s decision will
be issued as timely as possible following the hearing and will be signed by the hearing officer,
and transmitted to the grievant, the City Manager and department director. The hearing officer
may uphold, modify or reverse the decision of the City Manager or designee, and may reinstate
the employee and award back pay and benefits. No attorney’s fees, costs or other damages may
be awarded. The standard of proof in a grievance hearing is a preponderance of the evidence.

Page 29



The record of the proceedings will be retained by the City Human Resource’s office for a period
of not less than five (5) years from the hearing date, along with all of the physical evidence
admitted by the hearing officer. The verbal record may be transcribed only in the case of appeal
to the District Court by one of the parties. The party requesting the transcription shall pay for the
transcription.

8.11 Appeal of Hearing Officer’s Decision: Either party may appeal the hearing officer’s
decision to the District Court by filing with the District Court and the Human Resources
Manager a Notice of Appeal within thirty (30) calendar days of the hearing officer’s decision. A
party may cross-appeal within thirty (30) days of the date another party files a Notice of Appeal.
Both parties shall be forever estopped from appealing the hearing officer’s decision after thirty
(30) calendar days from the hearing officer’s decision if no Notice of Appeal is timely filed.

A. These Rules, if certified to be complete by the City Clerk, and in effect at the material
times, may be included in the record on appeal at the request of any one of the respective
parties at any time before forwarding the record to the District Court.

B. The appeal shall be one of review of the record (transcript) along will all the exhibits as
admitted. No trial de novo will be accorded.

SECTION IX: COMPENSATION & BENEFITS

9.1 Purpose: The purpose of the compensation plan is to establish equitable compensation for
all positions in the City. Such a plan may establish a salary schedule containing a minimum and
maximum wage or salary for each position. Pay ranges are intended to furnish administrative
flexibility. However, all wages and salaries are approved by the Board during the budget process
or otherwise. The Board has sole authority to budget and authorize wage and salary increases.
The Board acknowledges all changes in compensation and may set pay schedules and Rules
regarding any raises and promotional increases for the entire fiscal year for all City employees.

9.2 Hours of Work: Employees will work their scheduled hours pursuant to work schedules
established by their department director and approved by the City Manager. Full-time
employees will work a minimum of forty (40) hours per week. Actual work periods may
fluctuate at the discretion of the department director, with approval of the City Manager. Part-
time employees are scheduled to work pursuant to scheduling set forth by their department
director. Law Enforcement Personnel may work an alternative schedule in accordance with
FLSA regulations in excess of eighty-six (86) hours per pay period permitted by 29 U.S.C.
Section 207(k).

9.3 Overtime Pay: Only FLSA non-exempt employees shall be compensated for all time
actually worked, whether or not the time is authorized. Failure to obtain authorization for
overtime shall result in disciplinary action, up to and including dismissal. The rate shall be one
and one-half (1%2) times regular pay for each hour of overtime. Only actual time worked will be
used to calculate overtime; holiday, annual, sick and other leave hours shall not be considered
actual working hours.

A. Regular employees: such payment shall be made only in cases when an FLSA non-
exempt employee works over forty (40) “actual hours” in a normal workweek.

Page 30



B. Law Enforcement Personnel: An FLSA non-exempt, law enforcement employee shall
be paid overtime according to FLSA regulations in excess of eighty-six (86) hours per
pay period permitted by 29 U.S.C. Section 207(k).

9.4 Consistency with Fair Labor Standards Act: The provisions of Section 9.3 are subject to
change or revision by the Fair Labor Standards Act and any federal regulation or revision
thereof.

9.5 Emergency Call-out Pay: An employee called out will be paid for the greater of two
(2) hours at one and one-half (1.5) times his/her regular rate or for actual hours worked at one
and one-half (1.5) times his/her regular rate. Police officers are exempt from call-out pay
eligibility, except as defined in Section 9.3 B.

9.6 Stand-by Pay:  An employee on stand-by will be compensated at his’her regular rate for
eight (8) hours during any regular seven-day workweek.

A. No employee may be placed on stand-by for more than one week (seven consecutive
days) at a time, except by special arrangement with the department director.

9.7 P.E.R.A. Benefits: All City employees, with the exception of those employees, who
are subject to exclusion under P.E.R.A. rules, are required to join the Public Employees
Retirement Association of New Mexico (P.E.R.A.).

9.8 Insurance Benefits: The City offers group insurance benefits to all employees as long
as the employee is regularly scheduled to work at least 20 hours per week and whose term of
employment when hired is for six or more months. Independent contractors and causal
employees are not eligible under the City benefit plan. Insurance plans may be changed at the
discretion of the Board or the insurance carrier.

9.9 Fringe Benefits: The City will follow the Internal Revenue Service’s rules with regard to
fringe benefits. Taxable fringe benefits will be included on the employee’s W-2 form. (Examples
of fringe benefits may include uniforms, uniform allowances, vehicle usage, City cell phones,
etc.) If an employee has a question regarding fringe benefits and how that may affect them, the
employee should contact the Human Resources Manager. Vehicles assigned as take-home
vehicles must be properly identified with a logo as City of Truth or Consequences vehicles, with
the exception of law enforcement undercover vehicles.

9.10 Compensatory Time: Compensatory time in lieu of cash compensation may be given if
there is no remaining overtime in the Department’s budget and shall be authorized only under
rare circumstances, which call for immediate action or in special situations required by the nature
of the operation or the status of the activity.

A. Compensatory time in lieu of cash compensation may be given only if there is an
agreement entered into voluntarily between the employee and department director.

B. The employee must have entered into this agreement before compensatory overtime
work is performed.

C. Compensatory time off for FLSA non-exempt employees shall be at a rate equal to
one and one-half (1.5) hours for each hour of employment for which overtime
compensation is required. However, if the additional hours worked would not qualify

Page 31



as overtime (i.e. leave was taken during the workweek), but the employee takes time
off in lieu of payment such compensatory time would be accrued at the straight time
rate.

. A maximum of 40 hours of compensatory time may be accrued before the employee

will be required to exhaust the leave.

. The FLSA-covered employee who has accrued compensatory time off, and who has

requested the use of compensatory time, shall be permitted to use the time within a
reasonable period after making the request, if the use of compensatory time does not
unduly disrupt the operations of the City, as determined by the employee’s
supervisor. .

. After accrual of 40 hours of compensatory time, any overtime worked must be paid.

If compensation is paid to an employee for accrued compensatory time, such
compensation shall be paid at the regular rate earned by the employee at the time the
employee receives such a payment.

. A department head shall make every reasonable effort to schedule time off, for an

employee to use accrued compensatory time immediately after accrual.

. No employee whose position is designated as exempt shall be paid in any way for

hours worked in excess of 40 in a workweek. It is the practice of the City to allow
professional flexibility in work schedules for exempt employees to balance their
professional and personal commitments. It is, however, generally expected that
exempt employees are present and available during daily “core times”.

9.11 Flex Time: Excess time accrued by a non-exempt employee above the employee’s
regularly scheduled daily work hours in, which the employee requests for department director
approval to use the accrued hours as alternate leave on a day and time within the same pay

period.

A. Directors may, at their discretion, permit non-exempt employees who are requesting to

use accrued flex time on a case-by-case basis, where the employee was engaged in
approved work-related assignments that required the employee to work extended hours
outside of their normal work day. Flex hours must be used within the same city pay
period in which they were accrued and the employee must properly reflect the correct
number of hours worked per day on their timesheet entry.

SECTION X: LEAVE AND HOLIDAYS

10.1 Holidays:

A.

B.

The Board shall approve holidays at their discretion, for the calendar year. All

employees, except temporary and casual employees, are eligible for holiday pay.
An employee that works on a holiday will receive holiday pay plus their choice of:

1. One hour of time off for each hour worked on the holiday, or
2. Pay for actual time worked at their regular rate.

If a holiday falls on an employee’s regularly scheduled day off, the employee will receive

eight (8) hours straight time.

Page 32



10.2 Personal Holiday Leave: All regular employees who have completed the
probationary period will have an eight (8) hour and part-time employees eligible for benefits will
receive four (4) hours personal holiday each calendar year in addition to the regular holiday
schedule. The personal holiday may be taken at any time, upon approval by the employee’s
supervisor. The entire eight (8) hours, four (4) hours for part-time employees must be taken
when requesting personal holiday leave. Personal holiday time may not be taken in hourly
increments. Personal holiday leave shall not carry over beyond the current calendar year.

10.3 Annual Leave with Pay: Annual leave may not be used before it is accrued and must
be approved with at least seven (7) days or more notice by the employee’s supervisor prior to
being taken. Employees accrue annual leave with pay in accordance with the following schedule,
based upon continuous length of City service:

I;;li;(;:ars of Hours/pay period | Working days/Year
0to5 Years 4.0 hours 13 days/ 104 hours
5to 10 Years 5.0 hours 16.25 days/ 130 hours
10 Years + 6.0 hours 19.5 days/ 156 hours

Employees hired before adoption of this ordinance are grandfathered in at the rate established at
hiring and shall accrual annual leave in accordance with the following schedule:

IS:lejllviZ:ars of Hours/pay period | Working days/Year
0to 3 Years 4.0 hours 13 days/ 104 hours
3to 15 Years 6.0 hours 20 days/ 160 hours
15 Years + 8 hours 26 days/ 208 hours

A. Employees employed in regular part-time status accrue annual leave on a prorated basis.

B. Only completed calendar months of service before and after interruptions or breaks will
be counted. In computing the total number of years of service by which an employee is
allowed to progress from one graduated rate of accrual to another, the following will

apply:

1. Where the employee has been employed with the City without any interruption or
break in continuity of service, the date from which their years of tenure are
counted will be the first day of the first completed calendar month worked.

2. Periods of leave without pay in excess of thirty (30) days will not be counted as
service.

Page 33



C. An eligible employee will progress from one graduated rate of accrual for annual leave to
the next on the first day of the month immediately following completion of the required
total length of service.

D. The amount of accrued annual leave permitted to be carried over from one calendar year
to the next shall not exceed 240 hours, unless exigent circumstanced prevented annual
leave use and is approved by the City Manager.

E. Upon separation of employment, an employee will be compensated for all unused and un-
forfeited annual leave, not to exceed 240 hours.

F. Upon death of an eligible employee, compensation for unused total annual leave, not to
exceed 240 hours, shall be payable to the employee’s estate.

10.4 Accrual Limitation: = Total number of accrued annual leave hours shall not exceed a
maximum of 240 hours. Therefore, any hours exceeding 240 hours, at any time, will be
forfeited, unless approved by the City Manager. Exceptions to this policy must result from a
legitimate business necessity.

10.5 Separation from Service or Change in Service Pay: Employees shall be paid for
all accrued annual leave upon separation from City service, not to exceed two hundred-forty
(240) hours.

10.6 Leave Donation: Employees are permitted to donate or receive annual or sick leave
for City employees with severe or extraordinary illnesses, or to provide care for relatives or
household members with severe or extraordinary illnesses, if the employee has exhausted their
annual and sick leave.

A. An employee may donate as many annual or sick leave hours as desired, as long as the
employee retains an annual and/or sick leave balance of at least 40 hours.

B. Requests to receive donated leave require department director and City Manager
approval. The City reserves the right to approve or deny donated leave requests. The
City Manager will render a decision based on the employee’s length of service,
performance/disciplinary history and review of the employee’s leave usage.

C. A certificate of illness or injury will be required from a physician in order to qualify to
use donated hours.

D. Under no circumstances, including termination, can donated hours be converted into
cash. Unused hours will be returned to the employee(s) making the donation.

E. Upon death of an eligible employee, compensation for unused total annual leave, not to
exceed 240 hours, shall be payable to the employee’s estate.

10.7 Sick Leave with Pay: Employees shall accrue a maximum of four (4) hours of sick leave
with pay per pay period. Part-time employees accrue sick leave at the rate of 2.0 hours per pay-
period. Casual and temporary employees do not accrue sick leave.

A. Sick leave shall be authorized by the employee’s supervisor, when such leave is
requested, when an employee is unable to perform normal job duties due to medical
considerations such as, but not limited to, the following: illness, injury, prearranged
medical or dental examination, quarantine, therapy, counseling, treatment, or when a
member of the employee’s immediate family is ill and requires the personal attention of
the employee.

Page 34



B. The City has no maximum cap on accrued sick leave; all hours are allowed to be carried-
over from one calendar year to the next. Upon separation or retirement of an employee
serving five (5) or more continuous years of service, will be compensated for one third
(1/3) of the first 480 accrued sick leave hours; a maximum of 160 hours. Employees with
less than five (5) continuous years of service will forfeit all accrued sick leave at
separation of employment. Employees are not permitted to donate sick leave at time of
separation.

10.8 Sick Leave Authorization: Sick leave may not be used before it is accrued and must be
authorized or denied according to City policy. Unless otherwise prescribed by separate
department policy, the following procedures shall apply:

A. Reporting Sick Leave. For police officers, sick leave shall be reported as soon as
possible, but no later than two (2) hours prior to the employee’s work shift. All other
employees, sick leave shall be reported as soon as possible, but no later than thirty (30)
minutes following the start of their normal work day.

B. Sick leave shall be requested and entered in the City’s system. If an employee uses any
falsehood to support a request for leave, any leave authorized may be rescinded and the
employee may be subject to disciplinary action. Leave may be granted contingent upon
the employee presenting sufficient justification.

10.9 Use of Sick Leave During Probationary Period: Probationary employees accrue sick
leave as set forth in 6.1 D and may use sick leave if accrued.

10.10 Certification of Illness for Sick Leave: A physician’s written certification may be
required prior to receipt of sick leave pay at the discretion of the department director.

10.11 Bereavement Leave: In the event of a death in the employee’s immediate family, he or
she will be entitled to bereavement leave. Up to three (3) days may be granted for an employee
to attend the funeral of a member of his/her immediate family in state and up to five (5) days if
the funeral is out-of-state. These days will be classified as Administrative Leave with pay and
require City Manager approval.

10.12 Family Medical Leave:

A. The City provides family medical leave of absence without pay to eligible employees
who wish to take time off from work duties to fulfill family obligations relating directly
to the birth or adoption of a child or the illness of a child, spouse, domestic partner,
parent or the employee themselves. Regular full-time and part-time employees are
eligible to request family leave as described in these Rules.

B. Eligible employees are allowed family/medical leave according to provisions of the
Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA). As soon as an eligible employee becomes aware of
the need for a family medical leave of absence, the employee shall request leave from
their supervisor. Employees requesting family medical leave related to the illness of a
child, spouse, domestic partner, parent or the employee themselves shall be required to
provide a healthcare provider’s certification of employee/family member’s serious health
condition. Eligible employees who do not request family medical leave in advance of a
qualifying event will automatically be placed on family medical leave as soon as the

Page 35



Human Resources Manager determines that their leave qualifies for protections under
FMLA.

C. The City may require an employee to submit to a fitness for duty return to work exam
when the need for FMLA leave is based on the employee’s own serious health condition
that may affect the essential functions of the employee’s job. The City must notify the
employee of this requirement at the beginning of the leave.

D. Eligible employees are allowed up to twelve (12) weeks of family medical leave or up to
twenty-six (26) weeks of leave, in a single 12-month period, to care for a covered service
member recovering from a serious injury or illness incurred in the line of duty on active
duty. Eligibility for leave will be determined on a twelve (12) month rolling-back
calendar. The employee will be required to take any available annual or sick leave as part
of the approved period of leave. If the family medical leave is unpaid, the employee is
subject to all rules pertaining to leave without pay, section 10.20.

E. Subject to the terms, conditions and limitations of the applicable plans, the City will
continue to provide health insurance benefits for the full period of the approved
family/medical leave, subject to all rules pertaining to leave without pay, Section 10.20.

F. When family medical leave ends, every reasonable effort will be made to return the
employee to the same position, if it is available, or to a similar available position for
which the employee qualifies.

10.13 Administrative Leave with Pay: Administrative leave with pay may be granted by
the department director, subject to the approval of the City Manager, pending an investigation or
disciplinary action or fitness for duty evaluation, as subject to all rules pertaining to Immediate
Suspension with Pay, Section 7.14.

10.14 Workers’ Compensation Program: [§§52-5-1 et. seq., NMSA 1978]

A. The City provides a comprehensive worker’s compensation insurance program at no cost
to employees. This program covers any injury or anyone suffering from occupational
diseases sustained in the course of employment as approved by the insurance carrier.
Subject to applicable legal requirements, Workers’ Compensation insurance provides
benefits after a short waiting period, or if the employee is hospitalized immediately.

B. Employees who sustain work-related injuries or occupational diseases must inform their
supervisor immediately, who will notify Human Resources. No matter how minor an on-
the-job injury may appear, it is important that it be reported immediately. This will enable
an eligible employee to qualify for coverage as quickly as possible. A “Notice of
Accident” form shall be filed with the Human Resources Manager immediately following
the work-related injury. Employees sustaining an injury /illness NOT requiring medical
care need not seek medical attention; the “Notice of Accident” form will provide
sufficient documentation.

1. The employee and the employee’s supervisor shall sign the report. In addition, the
supervisor’s Accident Investigating Report” will be filed on the following workday.
All accidents shall be reported, however minor.

2. Human Resources will complete an E-1 workers’ compensation report form and
report it to NMML in a timely manner.

3. Supervisors will thoroughly investigate the injury/illness and complete a “Supervisor
Report of Injury” form. In every case, the “corrective Action Taken” section of the
report shall be completed.

Page 36



C. Neither the City nor the insurance carrier will be liable for the payment of workers’
compensation benefits for injuries that occur during an employee’s voluntary
participation in any off-duty recreational, social, athletic activity, or similar events off-
duty.

D. Subject to the terms, conditions and limitations of the applicable plans, the City will
continue to provide health insurance benefits while the employee is receiving worker’s
compensation benefits, subject to the provisions of Section 10.15. Eligible employees
will automatically be placed on family/medical leave as soon as the Human Resources
Manager determines that their leave qualifies for protection under the Act.

10.15 On-The-Job Injury Leave: An employee injured on the job may use accrued sick leave
until exhausted and then the use of annual leave is permissible for each regularly scheduled
working day after the injury occurs for all such days that are not paid by Workers’ Compensation
Insurance. If the employee is on worker’s compensation time for more than four (4) weeks, and
is entitled to compensation for the first seven (7) days and has used accrued leave for the first
seven (7) days of injury, the workers’ compensation payments received for all such days shall be
paid directly to the City by the workers’ compensation carrier. In the event an employee uses
accrued leave, in lieu of workers’ compensation, the leave used shall be re-credited to the
employee upon the City’s receipt of the reimbursement by the Workers’ Compensation carrier
after the expiration of the statutory waiting period.

10.16 Voting Leave: For purposes of national, state or local elections, an employee, registered
to vote, will be granted up to two (2) hours paid leave for voting, between the time of opening
and the time of closing of polls. The employee’s supervisor may specify the hours for the leave.
This leave will not be granted to any employee whose workday begins more than two (2) hours
subsequent to the time of the opening of the polls or ends more than three (3) hours before the
closing of the polls.

10.17 Court Service Leave with Pay: Pay for jury duty shall be authorized only for those
days that the employee is scheduled to work. If excused by the court during a working day, the
employee shall return to work. Employees serving as jurors shall file for jury pay and turn in any
pay received to the City. Any jury duty worked beyond their regular work hours shall be
refunded back to the employee.

A. Procedures for Jury Duty Time:
1. Juror Service Verification form from the Court must be attached to the Leave Request
Form.
2. Reconciliation of time by Payroll will include matching Jury Hours Summary Sheet
received by the Court to time sheet, leave form and Juror Service Verification form.

B. Court Appearance Time. When required by City duties and subpoenaed to appear before
a Court, personnel Hearing Officer, public body or the Board for testifying about City
matters, the employee will be compensated as regular work time.

10.18 Leave Without Pay: The department director with the approval of the City Manager,

may grant an employee leave without pay for a period not to exceed ten (10) days, when the
department director deems that such leave without pay is in the best interest of the City.

Page 37



A. Failure to Report Timely: = Failure on the part of the employee to report to work
immediately to the assigned shift following the last day of the request, upon the
expiration of approved leave without pay, shall be subject to disciplinary action up to and
including termination.

10.19 Life Threatening Illnesses in the Workplace: Employees with life-threatening
illnesses, such as cancer and heart disease, often wish to continue their normal pursuits,
including work, to the extent allowed by their condition. The City supports these endeavors as
long as employees are able to meet acceptable performance standards. As in the case of other
disabilities, the City will make reasonable accommodations in accordance with all legal
requirements, to allow qualified employees with life-threatening illnesses to perform the
essential functions of their jobs.

A. Medical information on individual employees is treated confidentially. The City will take
reasonable precautions to protect such information from inappropriate disclosure.
Management, as well as other employees, has a responsibility to respect and maintain the
confidentiality of employee medical information. Anyone inappropriately disclosing such
information is subject to corrective or disciplinary action up to and including dismissal of
employment.

B. The Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) and the Americans
with Disabilities Act (ADA) require the City to maintain the privacy of protected health
information. A copy of the City’s HIPAA Notice of Privacy Practices can be obtained
from Human Resources.

10.20 Inclement Weather: The City Manager may close offices, authorize late reporting or
early release due to inclement weather, and all employees will be compensated for normal work
hours as administrative leave with pay and shown on a Leave Report Form. Inclement weather
leave with pay will not exceed eight (8) hours in one workday.

10.21 Leave For Unforeseen Circumstances: The City Manager may close individual
offices, authorize late reporting or early release due to unforeseen conditions beyond the City’s
control that prevent the employees from performing their duties as administrative leave with pay
and entered into the City’s system.

10.22 Military Leave:

A. The Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act (USERRA)
protects the job and benefits, for up to five years (or more in some cases), of a service
member who must leave his or her civilian job because of military orders to report for
training or active duty, voluntary or involuntary, in peacetime or wartime.

B. Military Leave for Reserve or National Guard Activities (§ 20-1-1 NMSA 1978).
USERRA requires service members, or a responsible representative of the military unit,
to provide advance written or verbal notice to their employers for all military duty unless
giving notice is impossible, unreasonable, or precluded by military necessity. Paid
Military leave is granted for authorized reserve or National Guard activities for a
maximum of fifteen (15) working days with pay during a one (1) year period based on the
federal government’s fiscal year from October 1 to September 30. Military leave must be
requested twenty (20) working days in advance, unless a national or state emergency
exists and an immediate call-up is initiated in which case notice as soon as possible is

Page 38



required. The employee must furnish proof of duty orders or other documentation prior
to leave being granted unless the leave is for emergency purposes.

C. Extended Unpaid Military Leave. Employees voluntarily or involuntarily serving on
active duty for more than fifteen (15) working days may use accrued annual leave. When
military leave has been exhausted, employees have the option of being placed on leave
without pay (LWOP) or using accrued leave. Employees may use all of their annual leave
on consecutive days or use up to twenty-seven (27) hours per pay period in order to
maintain their group insurance benefits. Employees who exhaust their annual leave shall
then be placed on LWOP for the remainder of time they are on active duty. Employees
shall not receive pay or accrue leave while on LWOP. Employees wanting to maintain
insurance benefits while on military duty will be required to pay the employee’s share of
their premium.

D. Service members are entitled to return to their City job and receive pay raises,
promotions, pension credit and other seniority benefits as if you had been continually
employed, provided certain eligibility criteria be met. Protection under the USERRA
applies if:

1. The job the employee left was for more than a brief, non-recurrent period, with no
reasonable expectation that such employment would continue indefinitely or for a
significant period.

2. The employee left this job for the purpose of entering active duty.

3. The employee is discharged under honorable conditions.

AND
4. The employee applied for reemployment within the applicable time limit.

E. If these criteria are met, the USERRA provides the following protections:

1. The employee is entitled to return to the prior position with the same seniority,
benefits, pay, and, additionally, any promotion or raise which could have been
reasonably expected if the employee had remained continuously on the civilian job.

2. The City is required to offer disabled veterans the "nearest approximation" of the job
the service member could have reasonably expected with continuous employment.

3. Service members are protected from being discharged for the protected period
allotted by USERRA according to the time served on active duty, unless the City
proves misconduct or violation of policies.

4. To be re-employed in the same position, the employee’s return to work must occur
within the following guidelines:

a. For a service period of 1-30 days, the employee must report to work immediately
by the first regularly scheduled work day;

b. For a service period of 31-180 days, the employee must make application for re-
employment within 14 calendar days after he/she is relieved from training or duty;

c. For a service period of 181 days or more, the employee must make application for
re-employment ninety (90) calendar days after he/she is relieved from training or
duty;

d. An employee, who is released from hospitalization of a service-related injury,
continuing after discharge for a period of not more than one (1) year, must make
application for re-employment ninety (90) calendar days after he/she is relieved
from training or duty.

Page 39



F. Employees may qualify for up to twelve (12) weeks of leave for qualifying exigencies
arising out of a covered military member’s active duty status, or notification of an
impending call or order to active duty status, in support of a contingency operation under
the FMLA.

10.23 Light Duty Return-To-Work: Employees who are on leave due to an on-duty
injury or illness may be eligible to return to work on light duty status after their physician
certifies their fitness to do so. The department director and the Human Resources Manager will
determine if there is a position or duties suitable for an employee to perform light duty work. The
City retains full discretion as to whether or not an employee is eligible for light duty status.

A. Coordination with Attending Physician: An employee on leave due to a work-related
disability can return to work only when the City receives the attending physician's written
medical release authorizing such return. The Human Resources Manager is responsible
for providing the physician with a copy of the employee's job description, copies of job
descriptions for potential restricted duty assignments, and written information explaining
the City’s return-to-work program.

B. Return-to-Work Options: Arrangements to facilitate an employee's early return to
work are made in consultation with the employee's attending physician and/or other
qualified medical professionals retained by the City or its insurance carrier. The
following options will be explored:

1. Return to prior position: An employee is offered the opportunity to return to his or
her prior position if the attending physician certifies that the employee can perform
the essential functions of the job with or without reasonable accommodations. The
Human Resources Manager or his/her designee is responsible for working with the
employee's supervisor and attending physician (and third-party consultants, as
necessary) to provide any reasonable accommodations.

2. Restricted duty: Any employee who is not yet able to return to their former duties
are offered, subject to the restrictions set out in Section 5.2 of these Rules, a
temporary restricted duty assignment that has been approved by the employee's
attending physician. The Human Resources Manager is responsible for working with
the employee's supervisor, and the employee's attending physician to develop and
implement the restricted duty assignment. The assignment can consist of the
employee's regular job, with reduced working hours or reduced activities, or an
alternative restricted duty position.

C. Limitations on Restricted-Duty Assignments: The following limitations apply to
restricted duty assignments:

1. No guarantee of work:  As provided in Section 5.9 of these Rules, the City will
endeavor to return employees to gainful employment as soon as possible by exploring
possible restricted duty assignments. However, the City does not guarantee the
availability of restricted duty work.

2. Pay rates and Workers' Compensation benefits: Employees on restricted duty are not
guaranteed the rate of pay they received for the position they held at the time they
sustained their work-related injury or illness. The pay rate for a restricted-duty
assignment is based on the knowledge, skills, and abilities required for the job as well

Page 40



as general market conditions. Employees who return to work before they have
reached maximum medical improvement (MMI) may be eligible for temporary partial
disability benefits under the state Workers' Compensation program, if they earn less
than they earned in the position held at the time they sustained the work-related
accident or illness. Employees in restricted duty positions are not permitted to
supplement their workers' compensation benefits by using their accrued annual,
personal, or medical/sick leave.

3. Four (4) week limit: Restricted duty assignments are temporary arrangements
intended to complement and facilitate the healing process. Restricted-duty
assignments cannot exceed four (4) weeks without approval from the department
director and approved by the City Manager.

D. Employee Refusal of Work/Training: In the event that an employee refuses to
return to  regular or restricted duties in response to a written, bona fide offer of
employment by the City sent via certified mail, the employee is separated from the City
and his/her position will be filled permanently (NOTE: An exception to this rule applies
in the case of employees who have not yet exhausted their FMLA leave entitlement, refer
to subsection F.).

A written offer of employment shall be on a form promulgated by the City Manager and
must clearly state:

1. The position offered and the duties of the position;

2. The City's agreement to any limitations or conditions set out in the attending
physician's certification of the employee's fitness to return to work;

3. The job's essential functions; and

4. The job's start date, wage, working hours, supervisor and location;

5. Length of assignment and required training.

E. Coordination with FMLA: Nothing in these Rules should be construed as denying
employees their rights under the FMLA or any other federal or state law.

F. Itis the City's policy to designate an employee's absence from work due to a work-related
injury or illness as FMLA leave to the extent allowed by federal law. Employees entitled
to FMLA leave can voluntarily accept restricted duty assignments while they are
recuperating, but they cannot be required to do so. Employees who lose their workers'
compensation benefits because of declining a restricted duty assignment are required to
substitute any available paid leave, such as accrued annual, personal, or medical/sick
leave, for unpaid FMLA leave.

G. Until employees have exhausted their twelve (12) week FMLA entitlement, they have the
right to be reinstated to their original job or an equivalent job providing they are able to
perform the job's essential functions.

10.24 Change in FLSA Status:

A. Upon change from FLSA non-exempt to FLSA exempt status, employees shall be paid a
lump sum for the unused portion of their accrued compensatory leave, overtime, sick
leave and vacation leave. For employees that qualify, sick leave will be compensated in
accordance with Section 10.7 B.

B. The lump sum payment shall be calculated based on the non-exempt salary rate.

Page 41



C. Upon change from non-exempt to exempt status and transfer to a new department,
employees shall be paid the lump sum for the unused portion of their accrued
compensatory leave by their previous department.

D. If an employee’s change in status in contingent upon a Ninety (90) day trial period,
pursuant to section 5.2 of this Ordinance, the lump sum payment shall not be made until
successful completion of the trial period.

SECTION XI: SUBSTANCE ABUSE POLICY

11.0 Purpose

A. The City has adopted this employee substance abuse policy and a drug and alcohol
testing policy for the following City Departments: Electric, Fleet, Police, Solid Waste,
Street, Waste Water, Water, and all other safety sensitive and non-safety sensitive
employees. A safety sensitive employee is an employee who performs duties for the
City, with safety ramifications for themselves, fellow employees and the general public.
These positions may include, but are not limited to employees who operate
equipment/vehicles, have access to confidential information and/or receive calls for
public service.

B. The purpose of this policy is to assure worker fitness for duty and to protect our
employees and the public from the risks posed by the misuse of alcohol, the use of
prohibited drugs and the misuse of legal drugs. The City is concerned only with those
situations where use of alcohol and other drugs interfere with any employee’s health, job
performance and adversely affects the job performance of other employees or is
considered so serious as to be detrimental to the City’s operations and the safety of
himself/herself and others. There is no intent to intrude upon the private lives of
employees.

11.1 Safety Sensitive Employees: Adherence to this testing policy is a condition of
employment for all safety-sensitive positions. Safety-sensitive functions refer to any functions
contained within an employee’s realm of responsibilities that have an impact upon the safety and
general welfare of the public or coworkers.

11.2 Policy: The City is dedicated to providing safe, dependable and economical services to
our public. City employees are our most valuable resource and it is our goal to provide a
healthy, satisfying working environment, which promotes personal opportunities for growth. In
meeting these goals, it is our policy to (1) assure that employees are not impaired in their ability
to perform assigned duties in a safe, productive, and healthy manner; (2) create a work
environment free from the adverse effects of drug abuse and alcohol misuse; (3) prohibit the
unlawful manufacture, distribution, dispensing, possession, or use of controlled substances; and
(4) to encourage employees to seek professional assistance anytime personal problems, including
alcohol or drug dependency, adversely affect their ability to perform their assigned duties.

A. An employee using prescription drugs or over-the-counter medications that could affect
work performance, must inform their director (information received shall be kept
confidential). An employee with a temporary ailment or permanent medical condition
that may affect job performance also must notify their director. A doctor’s statement
may be required at the City’s discretion. Failure to notify the director can lead to injury
or property damage, or suspicions of substance abuse that might unnecessarily lead to

Page 42



substance testing. Upon such notification the City may require the employee to take
medical or other leave.

B. All safety-sensitive employees will receive training on the effects and consequences of
prohibited drug or alcohol use on personal health, safety and the work environment, and
the signs and symptoms, which may indicate prohibited drug, or alcohol use. The City
will schedule mandatory classes but it is ultimately the responsibility of the employee to
attend a class provided for by the City.

C. All department heads and supervisors designated to determine whether reasonable
suspicion exists to require a covered employee to undergo alcohol/drug testing will
receive training on the physical, behavioral, speech and performance indicators of
probable prohibited drug or alcohol misuse.

11.3 Prohibited Substances: “Prohibited substances” addressed by this policy include
the following:

A. Illegally used controlled substances or drugs: Includes, but is not limited to:
marijuana, except when prescribed in accordance with New Mexico law and the
employee is in a non-safety sensitive position, amphetamines, methamphetamines,
opiates, phencyclidine (PCP), and cocaine, as well as drugs not approved for medical use
by the U.S. Drug Enforcement Administration or the U.S. Food and Drug Administration.
Illegal use includes use of any illegal drug, misuse of legally prescribed drugs, and use of
illegally obtained prescription drugs. The collection agency shall adhere to all
requirements outlined in 49 CFR, Part 40 DOT Guidelines in determining what
constitutes a positive test.

B. Legal Drugs: The appropriate use of legally prescribed drugs and non-prescription
medications is not prohibited. However, the use of any substance, including synthetic
drugs, which carriers a warning label that indicates that mental functioning, motor skills,
or judgment may be adversely affected shall be reported by the employee to their
supervisor and medical advice shall be sought by both the employee and supervisor, as
appropriate, before performing safety-sensitive functions. A legally prescribed drug
means that an individual has a prescription or other written approval from a physician for
the use of a drug in the course of medical treatment. The misuse or abuse of legal drugs
while performing official business is prohibited.

C. Alcohol: The use of beverages or medications containing alcohol, subject to
Paragraph 11.3(B) above.

11.4 Prohibited Conduct:

A. Manufacture, Trafficking, Possession, and Use. Employees are prohibited from engaging
in the unlawful manufacture, distribution, dispensing, possession, or sale of prohibited
substances while on duty, on City premises, or in City vehicles. Law enforcement shall
be notified, as appropriate, where criminal activity is suspected.

B. Intoxication/Under the Influence: ~ Any safety-sensitive employee who fails a drug test
or has a breath alcohol concentration of 0.04 or greater shall be removed from their
safety-sensitive position and referred to an SAP (substance abuse professional). Such test
result will subject the employee to disciplinary action up to and including termination. A
safety sensitive employee with a breath alcohol concentration of 0.02 or greater, but less
than 0.04 shall be immediately removed from their safety-sensitive position for a

Page 43



minimum of 8 hours or until they can pass an alcohol test with a BAC of less than 0.02.
If a breath analyzer is unavailable, testing will be conducted via blood test.

C. Alcohol Use: No employee should report for duty or remain on duty when his/her
ability to perform assigned duties is adversely affected by alcohol or when his/her breath
alcohol concentration is 0.04 or greater. No employee shall use alcohol while on duty, or
while performing County duties. No employee shall use alcohol within four hours of
reporting for duty; or during the hours, they are scheduled on call; or up to eight hours
following an accident or until tested. Employees, who are not scheduled on call, shall
upon being notified to report to duty, acknowledge alcohol use and their inability to
perform his/her duties and shall be excused from doing so without further consequences.
No County employee under the age of 21 shall have a breath alcohol concentration of .02
or greater at any time while performing duties for the County. Violation of these
provisions is prohibited and punishable by termination.

D. Compliance with Testing Requirements: Safety-sensitive employees shall be subject
to urine drug testing and breath alcohol testing. Non-safety sensitive employees may be
subject to urine drug testing and breath alcohol testing based on reasonable suspicion.
Refusal to comply with a request for testing, failure to provide sufficient quantity of
breath or urine, failure to appear timely, failure to cooperate with any part of the testing
process, refusal to sign the drug testing chain of custody form, refusal to sign Step #2 on
the alcohol breath testing form, inability to provide sufficient quantities of breath or urine
to be tested without a valid medical explanation, tampering with or attempting to
adulterate the specimen or collection procedure or not reporting to the collection site in
the time allotted, shall constitute a verified positive test result.

11.5 Testing Which Results In a Dilute Specimen:

A. Definitions:
Dilute Drug Screen — A drug screen that is identified by the testing lab as an irregular
specimen pertaining to the specimen’s specific gravity and creatinine concentration. (The
irregularity in specific gravity minimizes the reliability of the testing procedure and
therefore reduces the reliability in the results.)

Primary Test — A test that is conducted under Sections 11.10, 11.11 or 11.12.
Monitored Tests — The City will offer all employees who are required to take a second
level test the opportunity to have the test monitored by a supervisor.

B. Dilute Drug Screen Procedure:
A dilute drug screen for Electric, Fleet, Police, Solid Waste, Street, Waste Water, Water,
and all other safety sensitive City employees who are covered by this policy will be
handled as follows:

1. Primary Test:

Identified as Dilute:
a. The employee shall enter into a re-entry contract as defined in Section 11.17 and
11.18 or

b. If the employee’s physician certifies in writing that there is a valid medical cause
for the dilute result, unrelated to illegal drug use or prescription drug abuse, the
employee may submit to a hair sample test, at the City’s expense, to contest the
results.

Page 44



c¢. The employee without a physician’s certification may submit to a hair sample test
to contest the results if the employee pays, in advance, for the cost of the test.

2. Second Level Test (test for re-entry purposes or follow-up tests defined within a re-
entry contract):

a. Monitored Dilute — The City will accept the test results as provided by the lab;
tests will be monitored.

C. Dilute Specimen Test for Employment Applicants: Any applicant for employment with
the City whose pre-employment drug and alcohol screen test is identified as dilute, shall
not be eligible for employment and is precluded from re-application for employment for:

1. aperiod of one (1) year from the date of the test, or

2. the applicant may submit to a hair sample test to contest the results if the applicant
pays, in advance, for the cost of the test. In the event the hair sample test results are
negative, the applicant will be eligible for immediate hire.

3. if the employee’s physician certifies in writing that there is a valid medical cause for
the dilute result, unrelated to illegal drug use or prescription drug abuse, the employee
may submit to a hair sample test to contest the results.

11.6 Treatment Requirements: All employees are encouraged to make use of the available
resources for treatment for alcohol misuse and illegal drug use problems. Under certain
circumstances, employees may be required to undergo treatment for substance abuse or alcohol
misuse. Any employee who refuses or fails to comply with the City’s requirements for
treatment, after care, or return to duty will be subject to termination. The cost of any treatment
or rehabilitation services will be paid for directly by the employee or their insurance provider.
Employees will be allowed to take accumulated sick leave and vacation leave to participate in
the prescribed rehabilitation program.

11.7 Proper Application of the Policy: The City is dedicated to assuring fair and equitable
application of this substance abuse policy. Therefore, department directors/supervisors are
required to use and apply all aspects of this policy in an unbiased and impartial manner. Any
department director/supervisor who knowingly disregards the requirements of this policy, or who
is found to deliberately misuse the policy concerning subordinates, will be subject to disciplinary
action, up to and including termination.

11.8 Testing Procedures:

A. Safety-sensitive employees of the City shall be subject to drug (urine) and alcohol testing
for reasonable suspicion, return to duty, follow-up or random and may be subjected to
testing following an accident. Follow-up testing will be conducted for a period of one to
five years, with up to six tests performed during the first year and as many as four in
subsequent years. The Substance Abuse Professional (SAP) may determine the
frequency and duration of follow-up testing.

B. Testing shall be conducted using techniques, equipment and certified laboratory facilities
to ensure a high degree of accuracy and reliability. Alcohol testing may only occur
during or immediately before/after performing safety sensitive duties and up to eight

Page 45



hours following an accident. Drug testing may occur any time while performing duties
for the City and up to 32 hours following an accident.

11.9 Pre-Employment Drug & Alcohol Screening: All applicants for employment with
the City shall be required to take a drug and alcohol screening test when they report for their pre-
employment medical examination or when otherwise directed by the City Manager or his/her
designee. Any applicant for employment with the City, whose pre-employment drug and alcohol
screen test is identified as positive, shall not be eligible for employment and is precluded from
re-application for a period of one (1) year from the date of the test.

11.10 Employee Requested Testing: Any safety-sensitive employee who questions the
result of a required drug test under paragraphs11.10 through 11-15 of this policy may request
that an additional test be conducted. This test will be conducted at a different certified
laboratory. The test will be conducted on the split sample that was provided by the employee at
the same time as the original sample. The method of collecting, storing, and testing the split
sample will be consistent with acceptable testing standards. The employee’s request for a split
sample test must be made to the Medical Review Officer* within 72 hours of notice of the
original sample verified test result. Requests after 72 hours will only be accepted if the delay
was due to documentable facts that were beyond the control of the employee. An employee
requested test will be at the expense of the employee.

11.11 Reasonable Suspicion Testing: All employees shall be subject to urine and/or
breath testing when there is reasonable suspicion to believe an employee is under the influence
of prohibited substances. Reasonable suspicion is a belief based on objective facts sufficient to
lead a prudent person to suspect that an employee is under the influence of a substance to the
extent that job performance may be impaired or ability to perform the job safely may be reduced.
A reasonable suspicion referral for testing will be made based on articulable objective facts and
circumstances, which are consistent with the short-term effects of substance abuse. Testing an
employee, based on reasonable suspicion requires City Manager approval. The supervisor or
designee will take the employee to the designated test site as soon as practical for a test.
Examples of reasonable suspicion include, but are not limited to the following:

A. Physical signs and symptoms consistent with prohibited substance use, including slurred
speech, poor coordination, and glazed or bloodshot eyes;

Evidence of the manufacture, distribution, dispensing, possession, or use of controlled
substances, drugs, alcohol, or other prohibited substances;

Occurrence of an accident that may have been caused by use of a prohibited substance or
alcohol misuse;

Fights (to mean physical contact), assaults, and flagrant disregard or violations of
established safety, security, or other operating procedures;

Odor of alcohol or prohibited substance on person, clothing or in workspace;

Abnormal or erratic behavior;

Abnormal decline in work performance associated with frequent absences or tardiness; or
Information from a reliable source.

I

QT

11.12 Post-Accident Testing: Any City employee involved in an automobile/heavy
equipment accident occurring on City property or involving City equipment/vehicle meeting any
of the following criteria shall be subject to a drug or alcohol test:

Page 46



An individual dies;

An individual suffers bodily injury and immediately receives medical treatment away

from the scene of the accident;

C. One or more vehicles incur disabling damage because of the accident and are transported
away from the scene by tow truck or other vehicle; or

D. The City driver was cited in the accident.

©

* Medical Review Officer — See DEFINITIONS Section 11.21.
11.13 Random Testing:

A. Employees in safety-sensitive positions shall be subjected to random, unannounced drug
testing. The selection of safety-sensitive employees for random drug testing will be made
using a scientifically valid method that ensures each covered employee will have an equal
chance of being selected each time selections are made. The random tests will be
unannounced and spread throughout the year on all days and during all hours of
operation.

B. When a safety-sensitive employee is informed of a random drug test, they must be tested
as soon as is reasonably possible but in a time not to exceed 3 hours. All employees who
have been randomly selected or are testing in conjunction with Rule 11.11 will be
notified in writing by the City Manager, department director, supervisor, or Human
Resources.  All tests will be collected as a split sample, giving the employee an
opportunity to exercise his/her right to an additional test (Section 11.10) on the sample
collected. Should the City’s agent not collect a split sample, the results of the test for
which a split sample was not collected, will be disregarded by management and the
employee will not be required to re-test for this specific testing period.

C. All safety sensitive employees shall be placed in a selection pool and random drug testing
shall come from this predetermined pool. The individual pools shall be defined as
follows:

Electric Department

Fleet Department

Police Department

Solid Waste Department

Street Department

Waste Water Department

Water Department

All other safety-sensitive employees

NN PE O —=

D. Shift employees, or employees who are not at work on the day of the scheduled test
(random or otherwise), and who have been selected for testing, will be required to test
immediately upon their return to work/duty and will be notified and expected to adhere to
the rules as described above.

11.14 Return-To-Duty Testing*: A return-to-duty test is required of an employee who has
had a positive drug or alcohol test and must be passed (negative non-dilute) before they can
return to a safety-sensitive position. The SAP must first clear the employee to return-to-regular-
duty after the evaluation and insure the employee has consented to treatment. The return-to-duty
test may be for drugs and/or alcohol as required. Any work missed due to a positive

Page 47



drug/alcohol test or due to treatment shall be charged to the employee’s sick leave and/or annual
leave (employee’s choice) or leave without pay if the employee has no leave balances.

11.15 Follow-Up Testing*: If allowed to return to duty, safety-sensitive employees shall be
subject to unannounced follow-up testing for at least 12, but not to exceed 60 months. The SAP
may recommend the frequency and duration of the follow-up testing as long as not more than six
tests are performed during the first 12 months after the employee returns to duty. Follow-up
testing is separate from and in addition to the random testing program.

11.16 Employment Assessment: The SAP may refer any safety-sensitive employee who
tests positive for the presence of illegal drugs or alcohol above the minimum thresholds for
evaluation. A SAP is a licensed or certified physician, psychologist, social worker, employee
assistance professional, or addiction counselor with knowledge of and clinical experience in the
diagnosis and treatment of alcohol-related and drug-related disorders. The SAP may evaluate
each employee to determine what assistance, if any, the employee needs in resolving problems
associated with prohibited drug use or alcohol misuse. Employees may select the SAP of their
choice as long as the criteria above is met.

11.17 Departmental Rule for Positive Drug/Alcohol Test:

A. Any probationary employee who, because of this policy tests positive for drugs and/or
alcohol, will be terminated immediately.

B. Any employee who has been placed on an improvement contract and who tests positive
for drugs/alcohol as defined by this policy will be terminated from employment.

C. Safety Sensitive Positions:

1. A positive prohibited substance/alcohol test for an officer or dispatcher shall be
reported to the New Mexico Law Enforcement Academy Director as outlined in the
NMLEA Handbook Subsection B4 of 10.29.1.11 NMAC.

2. Any safety sensitive employee who tests positive for prohibited substances and/or
alcohol under this policy shall be terminated from employment with the City, Section
7.10.

3. Any safety sensitive employee whose primary test is determined to be a dilute test
will be subject to the terms and conditions as defined below (this does not include
tests taken as a result of a re-entry contract which are monitored tests and are
determined to be dilute).

D. Any safety sensitive employee who is covered by this policy and whose primary test is
determined to be dilute as herein defined, shall be subject to the terms and conditions of:

1. The re-entry contracts defined below;

2. Rule 11.13 of this policy, and;

3. Rule 11.14 of this policy.

4. If applicable, any CDL provisions that may apply.

E. City safety sensitive employees shall be terminated upon violation of any of the terms
and conditions of the individual’s re-entry contract (defined below). An unmonitored
dilute, second level test (subject to a re-entry contract) shall result in termination of
employment.

Page 48



11.18 Re-Entry Contracts (general safety sensitive employees):

A. Employees who re-enter the workforce must agree to a re-entry contract. That contract
may include, but is not limited to:

1. A release to work statement from the Substance Abuse Professional.

2. A negative test for drugs and/or alcohol. (Section 11.14)

3. An agreement to unannounced frequent follow-up testing for a period of one to five
years with up to six tests performed the first year (Section 11.15).

4. A statement of expected work-related behaviors.

An agreement to follow specified after care requirements with the understanding that

violation of the re-entry contract is grounds for termination.

6. City safety sensitive employees shall be terminated upon violation of any of the terms
and conditions of the individual’s re-entry contract (defined below). An unmonitored
dilute, second level test employees (subject to a re-entry contract) shall result in
termination of employment.

hd

B. Any safety sensitive employees not covered above shall be terminated upon violation of
any of the terms and conditions of the individual’s re-entry contract (defined below).

11.19 Detection: The City reserves the right to inspect, at any time, all City property and all
City vehicles and equipment for the presence of prohibited substances or alcohol. All
inspections will be scheduled as deemed necessary by the City Manager or his/her designee.

11.20 Voluntary Request for Assistance:

A. The City intends to give the same consideration to persons who voluntarily request
assistance (prior to being randomly selected or selected for cause) with chemical
dependencies as it does to employees having other diseases. Therefore, employees are
encouraged to seek professional assistance anytime they experience personal problems,
including alcohol or drug dependency.

B. Early recognition and treatment of chemical (drug and alcohol) dependency problems is
important for successful rehabilitation and reduced personal, family and social disruption.
The City supports sound treatment efforts and an employee’s job will not be jeopardized
for conscientiously seeking assistance prior to random selection or selection for cause.
Normal City benefits, such as sick leave and the group medical plan, are available to give
help in the rehabilitation process to any employee who voluntarily requests assistance for
chemical dependencies.

C. Employees are encouraged to self-report alcohol and drug dependencies prior to random
testing selection or testing based on reasonable suspicion. The City has an obligation to
maintain the public trust; therefore, any employee identified with a positive test result for
illegal drugs, inappropriate use of prescription medications or alcohol will be terminated.

11.21 Definitions:

Medical Review Officer (MRO):  The MRO is a licensed physician who has knowledge of
substance abuse disorders and has appropriate medical training to interpret and evaluate positive

Page 49



drug test results. The List of primary responsibilities below is followed by standard operating
procedures necessary to carry out those responsibilities:

Receive test results from the laboratory

Review all drug testing results prior to reporting

Verify that the laboratory report and assessment are correct

Review and interpret each confirmed lab tested positive result

Conduct a medical interview, providing an opportunity for the employee to discuss a
positive test result

F. Notify employer of verified positive test

G. Process employee request for re-test

H. If necessary, re-analyze the original specimen to determine the accuracy of the test result

mo 0w

11.22 Records:

A. All records of the controlled substance abuse prevention programs must be kept in a
secure location with controlled access in Human Resources. Regulation requires that
certain records according to their importance be maintained for varying lengths of time,
from one (1) to five (5) years.

B. Records must be kept confidential and be made available for inspections by the City
Manager within two (2) business days following a request by an authorized representative
of the Federal Highway Administration. These records should not be made a part of a
driver’s personnel file.

C. The following are entitled access to these records through approval of the City Manager:

1. CDL Issuer or his/her representative;
2. The Secretary of Transportation;
3. Any Department of Transportation Agency;
4. Any State or Local Official with regulatory authority over the employee;
5. Any prospective employer with the employee’s written permission.
11.23 Confidentially: No laboratory reports or test results shall appear in the employment

personnel file unless they are a part of a disciplinary action, but shall be placed in a special
locked file.

SECTION Xll: COMPUTER, EMAIL, INTERNET, SOCIAL MEDIA, &
CELLULAR PHONE USE

12.0 Access: Access to a City computer, email and Internet service and a cellular phone is a
privilege. Users granted this privilege must adhere to strict guidelines concerning the appropriate
use of this information resource. Users who violate the provisions outlined in this document are
subject to disciplinary action up to and including termination. In addition, any inappropriate use
that involves a criminal offense will result in legal action. All users are required to acknowledge
receipt and understanding of guidelines contained in this document.

12.1 Purpose & Scope: To define policies and procedures for computer use and access to
the Internet through the City network infrastructure, and cellular phone use. This policy applies
to all personnel with a computer or access to Internet and related services through the City
network infrastructure, or have a cellular phone provided by the City. Internet Related services

Page 50



include all services provided with the TCP/IP protocol, including but not limited to Electronic
Mail (e-mail), File Transfer Protocol (FTP), and World Wide Web (WWW) access. Internet
access includes, but not limited to connections via DSL subscriptions, phone modem access, server-
to-Internet access or T1 line access.

12.2 Acceptable Use: Access to a City computer or the Internet is specifically limited to
activities in direct support of official City business.

A. In addition to access in support of specific work related duties, the City Internet
connection may be used for educational and work-related research purposes.

B. If any user has a question of what constitutes acceptable use he/she should check with
their supervisor for additional guidance. Management or supervisory personnel shall
consult with the City Manager for clarification of these guidelines.

12.3 Inappropriate Use: City computers, Internet access or use of a City cellular phone
shall not be used for any illegal or unlawful purposes. Examples of this would be personal use, or
the transmission of violent, threatening, defrauding, pornographic, obscene or otherwise illegal
or unlawful materials.

A. Use of City electronic mail or messaging services shall be used for City business only.
These services shall not be used to harass, intimidate or otherwise annoy another person.

B. The City Internet access shall not be used for private, recreational or other non-City
related activity.

C. City equipment and the Internet connection shall not be used for commercial or political
purposes.

D. Use of City Internet access shall not be used for personal gain such as selling access of a
City user login. Internet access shall not be used for or by performing work for profit
with City resources in a manner not authorized by the City.

E. Users shall not attempt to circumvent or subvert security measures on the City's network
resources or any other system connected to or accessible through the Internet.

F. City users shall not use Internet access for interception of network traffic for any purpose
unless engaged in authorized network administration.

G. City users shall not make or use illegal copies of copyrighted material, store such copies
on City equipment, or transmit these copies over the City network.

H. City users shall not download non-City software without authorization from their
department director and approved by the City’s IT Manager.

12.4 Internet, E-Mail & Cellular Phone Etiquette: City employees shall ensure all
communication through City email, messaging services and texted messages are conducted in a
professional manner. The use vulgar or obscene language is prohibited.

A. City users shall not reveal private or personal information without specific approval from
management.

B. Users should ensure that e-mail and texted messages are sent to only those users with a
specific need to know. The transmission of e-mail or texted messages to large groups or
messages with large file attachments should be avoided.

C. Electronic Mail and texted messages are not guaranteed to be private. Messages
transmitted through the City e-mail system or network infrastructure or on City cellular

Page 51



phones are the property of the City and are therefore subject to inspection by
management and to IPRA requests.

D. The destruction or deletion of emails and texts containing City business is prohibited and
a violation of law.

12.5 Security:

A. City users who identify or perceive an actual or suspected security problem shall
immediately contact the City Information Technology Manager.

B. Users shall not reveal account passwords or allow another person to use their account.
Similarly, users shall not use the account of another user.

C. Access to City network resources shall be revoked for any user identified as a security
risk or a demonstrated history of security problems.

12.6 Penalties: Any user violating these policies is subject to the loss of network
privileges and any other City disciplinary actions as detailed in Section 7 of this ordinance.

12.7 No Expectation of Privacy:  Users should not expect any information transmitted via the
City’s systems or phones to remain private or confidential.

A. The City may monitor use of any part of City Systems at any time, without notice, at its
discretion. Such monitoring may include, but is not limited to limiting size, accessing,
listening to, reading, or retrieving voice mail messages, e-mail, Internet communications,
text messages,<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>